ALIGN

## ALIGN REPORT

# Male politicians and gender politics in Colombia: a long path to walk



José Fernando Serrano Amaya and Carlos Iván García Suárez Universidad de los Andes

May 2024

www.alignplatform.org



## About Universidad de los Andes



Departamento de **Lenguas & Cultura** Facultad de Ciencias Sociales

Universidad de los Andes – Uniandes – is a private university in Colombia, with its main campus in the capital, Bogotá. Founded in 1948 by Mario Laserna Pinzón, it is now one of the leading academic institutions in Latin America. In the 2024 Quacquarelli Symonds World University Rankings for Latin America and the Caribbean, Uniandes is ranked as the sixth best regional university and the first in Colombia, with an excellent reputation in terms of its academic performance, its web impact and its recognition among employers.

With modern facilities and a highly qualified faculty, Uniandes has established an educational benchmark in research and interdisciplinary teaching. It is recognised for its comprehensive approach to education, with its students educated to face contemporary challenges through the promotion of ethical values, digital skills, responsible citizenship, innovation, social responsibility, critical thinking, autonomous learning and teamwork.

The Faculty of Social Sciences at Uniandes is a centre for knowledge production and the education of capable professionals and critical citizens. Through its various disciplines – Anthropology, Political Sciences, Philosophy, History and Geography, Language and Culture, Psychology – the faculty maintains a strong vocation for interdisciplinary, collaborative work with a local, regional or national impact. The work of professors and researchers has an impact on public policy and reaches a wider public through several pedagogical strategies. All departments with the faculty and across Uniandes conduct teaching and research on gender studies, including a degree and a Masters, as well as several other specialised courses.

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the institutions and individuals who have made the development of this research possible. We appreciate the time and kindness of the male and female politicians, the academics, social activists and students who shared their positions experiences and perspectives. We also thank the administrative team in the Faculty of Social Sciences of the Universidad de Los Andes for their administrative support, and the Faculty of Education Sciences, and the Doctorate in Education and Society of the Universidad de La Salle for their interest in joining this project. Special thanks to Aida Catalina Ramirez and to Laura Molano for their participation as Research Assistants.

## Table of contents

Key findings	4
Acronyms	5
Key terms	6
Introduction	7
The political system and socio-economic situation in Colombia	9
Research objectives and methods	18
Findings	22
Men, feminism, and politics: an empty signifier	22
Change: obstacles and facilitators	29
Perceptions of male politicians' work on gender issues and the politicisation of masculinities	34
Summary of findings	43
Implications for policy, practice and research	45
References	48
Annexes	53

### ALign

## Key findings

- A growing number of male politicians in Colombia are interested in understanding gender issues and in strengthening their commitment to gender equality. Their knowledge of feminism and their strategies for change, however, remain limited.
- In defining themselves as 'allies', male politicians express solidarity and empathy with gender equality and feminism, positioning themselves within broader political agendas of equality, social justice, and human rights. Their understanding of allyship though lacks clarity.
- There is often some distance between their 'allyship' and a full commitment to feminism and the struggle for gender equality. There is even some resistance to feminism that echoes a current global context of anti-gender 'push back'.
- Male politicians demonstrate their allyship in three ways:
  - by supporting the gender initiatives of others (often women politicians)
  - by developing their own initiatives dedicated to gender equality (often as part of their own political priorities)
  - by incorporating a gender perspective into their actions or the actions they support.
- Male politicians face structural and systemic obstacles to their support of gender equality initiatives, including political party structures that are still patriarchal and based on male control and political systems that resist change.
- The enablers of their commitment to gender equality are found at the micro level, including reflection on personal experiences and male privilege, education, participation in organisations working on gender politics, and alliance building with feminist organisations.
- Discussions with students and activists reveal doubts about the motivations and impact of male politicians who express a commitment to feminism and gender equality, ranging from a complete rejection of the involvement of male politicians to some pragmatic acceptance of the need for such commitment and a recognition that they can contribute.
- Despite these limitations, male politicians are key for the promotion of change. Their contribution can be strengthened with capacity building through training and support to their technical teams. These teams have a key role in supporting, and giving content to, their initiatives.
- Civil society organisations also need to improve their own political culture to demand accountability on gender policies from their elected representatives. This can be achieved through civic engagement and civil society engagement.

## Acronyms

CEDAW	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
CPEM	Consejería Presidencial para la Equidad de la Mujer (Presidential Advisory Office for Women's Equity)
DANE	Departamento Administrativo Nacional de Estadística (National Administrative Department of Statistics)
DNP	Departamento Nacional de Planeación (National Planning Department)
FARC	Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia (Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia
GBV	Gender-based violence
HIV/AIDS	Human immunodeficiency virus/Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
LGBTQI+	Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex and others
UN	United Nations
USAID	United States Agency for International Development



## Key terms

**Allyship:** 'Allyship is described in the literature using several terms, for example advocate, champion, change agent, sponsor. Although the definitions vary, broadly, allies align themselves with disadvantaged or oppressed groups and recognise the need for further progress in the journey towards equality. For example, male allies actively confront inequality (e.g. racism, (hetero-) sexism) in interpersonal interactions and intervene to address the structural and institutional dimensions of inequality' (Nash, 2021:2).

**Anti-gender movements:** The term 'anti-gender' captures the forms of resistance and pre-emptive opposition that have emerged to oppose women's sexual agency, gender and sexual diversity. 'Referring to the use of the terms 'gender' and 'gender ideology by conservative actors who have overlapping motivations and interests driving their efforts to protect a hetero-patriarchal social order, the term 'anti-gender movement' is now frequently used to describe the transnational constellation of actors working to preserve the hetero-patriarchal sex and gender power hierarchy in all areas of social, political, economic, and cultural life' (McEwen and Narayanaswamy, 2023:3-4).

**Caudillismo:** Used extensively in the studies of Latin American political culture to explain how, since the formation of Latin American states, electoral politics has been exercised by men who have embodied a type of populist, authoritarian and individualist exercise of power. This power is embedded in a patriarchal, heterosexist, classist, and racist masculinity that perpetuated colonial norms during the emergence of 19th century republics.

**Co-responsibility:** Policies on masculinities that displace the understanding of the role of men as simple participants in, or contributors to, care work and replace it with an understanding of the shared and mutual responsibility of men and women.

**Gender politics:** This signifies the interplay among actors who seek or control spaces of power and influence in public affairs that results from the relationship between peoples' genders and political phenomena. As an interdisciplinary field of study, gender politics is concerned with analysing how an individual's political beliefs influence their gender identity and how society's notions of gender influence the structure and function of political institutions. It encompasses diverse issues, such as the politics of the body and sexuality, gender-based violence (GBV), the political economy of gender associated with both production and social reproduction, the relationship of gender with political bodies, and the impacts of gender on political institutions and decision-making (Waylen et al., 2013).

**Gender orders:** These are structural factors, such as the economy, social structures or political power, which establish patterns of relationships between men and women and the hierarchies between them, as well as definitions and actions associated with femininity and masculinity (Connell, 1987).

## Introduction

What is being done is just a warm water handkerchief: 'Yes, up with women, equality, equity'. That's all very well, but the problem is that politicians won't allow it to happen, because there is nothing better than money and power, and politics provides both.

Focus group participant, male student

### Background

Colombia's 2022 election of President Gustavo Petro and Vice-President Francia Márquez raised hopes for a feminist agenda in the country's new government. In particular, the election of an Afro-Colombian, working-class woman as Vice President was seen as an important change in politics (despite the constant racist and classist attacks she has faced since her election). While this was not the first time that a woman had reached such a high office, it was the first time that a woman had emerged from a background of land rights mobilisations, environmental rights, and the struggles of Colombia's racial, cultural, and social minorities to become Vice President.

The creation of the Ministry of Equality was one response to the feminist mobilisations that supported the election of the new government and reflected an agenda for change in which gender issues were central. However, the government's promised changes have taken more time than initially thought and the resources to implement a feminist agenda are not yet flowing with the necessary speed.

Behind this is a longer history of the struggles of women's and feminist social movement for structural changes in gender relations. These struggles have either contested or incorporated men's issues and masculinities at various times and with distinct approaches. In the past five years, for example, social pedagogy strategies for change in gender relations in interpersonal, family, and community settings have been developed at national and local levels in cities such as Bogotá and Medellín (Box 1). These strategies exemplify an approach that has seen gender and masculinities issues entering the public agenda due to alliances among institutions, organisations, social movements, academia and international partners.

At the same time, Colombia has seen the consolidation of anti-gender movements as political actors in the public arena. These movements had already been organising and acting for decades to challenge women's rights and changes in gender relations in Latin America (Corrêa, 2018). In 2016, they had a significant public presence in discussions on sex education in schools and on the signing of the Peace Agreement between the Colombian government and the guerrillas of the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (FARC). The impact of their mobilisation gained such visibility that the then President Juan Manuel Santos had to make a public statement in August 2016 affirming that his government did not promote 'gender ideology', thereby giving the term some status as a topic for presidential agendas. This confusing term was also used to question the gender perspective that was incorporated into the Agreement because of the mobilisation of women's, feminist and LGBTQI+ organisations (Serrano Amaya, 2017), and played a significant role in discussions on the vote against the first version of the Peace Agreement on October 2, 2016 (Beltrán and Creely, 2022).



The case of Colombia illustrates how a series of significant processes of change toward gender equality have taken place over several decades, while encountering continued resistance and backlash. Although important discussions on issues of gender equality, feminisms and masculinities are taking place in public policy and electoral debates, this is not a scenario of cumulative or sustained progress. The political response to the demands of women's and feminist movements, the conversion of the issue of masculinities into policy issues or the emergence of alliances between feminist agendas and men in elected office have all been interrelated issues, but their developments and trajectories have differed.

### About this research report

In this context of both advances in, and resistance to, changes in gender orders, this research explores how men in elected positions who express some commitment to gender agendas and changes in gender relation explain and enact this commitment. The research investigates the personal and socio-political factors that underpin the actions of male politicians in gender equality, the ways in which they position themselves in relation to gender equality and feminism agendas, and their motivations and forms of political action. To draw some contrasts between the views expressed by male politicians during interviews, this research also considers the perspectives of students, activists and academics, aiming to offer a more complex reading of the issue. The research contributes qualitative information to topics that are still emerging in academic research, such as political masculinities.

This is important research at a time when analyses of gender inequalities show that, despite some advances, it will still take 155 years to close the gender gap at the current rate of progress (World Economic Forum, 2022). The transformation of gender injustice is an agenda that requires action by all social actors in long-term and sustained changes, as feminist movements have demanded for decades.

We are also seeing the emergence of male leaders around the world who express and legitimise sexist and misogynist politics, with direct consequences for feminism and for the struggle to change gender relations or manage global challenges such the Covid-19 pandemic or climate change (Encarnacion, 2017; Parmanand, 2022; Sperling, 2015; Stephens, 2020). Male presidents in several Latin-American countries have incorporated some of the rhetoric of anti-gender movements into their speeches, giving these movements increasing visibility in national debates (Arguedas Ramirez, 2020; Serrano Amaya, 2021). Understanding the motivations, obstacles and facilitators for male politicians who express some interest in gender change can help to strengthen political and civic responsibility in challenging today's gender inequalities.

This report starts with contextual information on the politics and economy of Colombia as an uppermiddle-income country and how, in its structural conditions, public policies that target men on gender issues and groups of men working on gender and masculinities have helped to drive the emergence of male politicians who are interested in supporting this agenda. This is followed by a summary of the methodology used to collect and analyse data and its limitations. The report then presents key findings, focusing on how male politicians relate to feminism, what motivates them to participate in gender equality initiatives, and the factors that either constrain or enable their participation. The report finishes with conclusions and implications for policy, practice and research.

## The political system and socioeconomic situation in Colombia

Colombia is a presidential participatory democracy. Political power is divided into three branches: the executive, the legislative and the judicial branch, with various bodies playing key roles on gender equality issues. At the provincial level, the executive power is constituted by department governors, municipal mayors and local administrators for administrative subdivisions such as city councillors. The Congress of the Republic is elected every four years and consists of 108 senators, elected from national lists, and 188 representatives, elected from territorial lists.

Until the constitutional reforms of 1991, Colombia had maintained a two-party system since the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century, defined as liberal and conservative parties, which had excluded the participation of other ideologies and political positions. Successive political and electoral reforms opened the door to new political representations through the collection of signatures from citizens and by alliances between various emerging parties and, since 1991, citizens have been able to create political parties or movements. Those who want to compete for an elected position can seek the support of a recognised political party or create their own. This has also created heterogeneous parties and weakened the relationship between those competing for elected positions and the parties or movements they intend to represent. Colombia now has 35 registered political parties.

The current President, Gustavo Petro, began his term in 2022 as the first leftist leader to hold such a position. His presidency was preceded by social unrest and mobilisations between 2018 and 2021 across the country, led by young people who opposed government measures which increased social inequalities – made worse by the Covid-19 pandemic – and the consequent economic crisis.

Poverty and inequality remain evident across the country. In 2022, 36.6% of Colombians were living in poverty and 13.8% in extreme poverty. The Gini coefficient was 0.556, which makes the country one of the most unequal in the world, and the second most unequal in Latin America and the Caribbean after Brazil. 85.9% of Colombians do not recognise themselves as belonging to any ethnic group, 10.5% identify as black, 3.4% as Indigenous and 0.01% as Roma (DANE, 2023).

Although some progress has been made, significant structural gender inequalities and gaps persist in economic and social indicators. Between 2008 and 2019, for example, the participation of women in the labour market increased from 46.4% to 53.1%. In 2022 it stood at 51.4%, for women and 76.5% for men. In terms of unemployment, the rate in 2022 was 17.1% for women and 10.4% for men. The gender pay gap narrowed from 18.2% in 2013 to 5.8% in 2020, but there is a real contrast between the informal and formal sectors, with a gender pay gap of 28.4% in the former, falling to 4.4% in the latter. There is also a significant gender difference in the hours spent daily on care responsibilities, with women spending an average of 7.14 hours on care, compared to only 3.25 hours for men. Land ownership is also unequal, with men accounting for 63.7% of single landowners and women accounting for only 36.3% (DANE et al., 2022).

In terms of politics, Law 581 of 2000 establishes a minimum quota of 30% for the representation of women in the management positions of public entities. In 2021, 46% of decision-making positions in public administration were occupied by women, which can be seen as a sign of progress. However, of the 296 seats in Congress, only 86 are occupied by women (29%), even though 75.2% of the population consider gender equality in politics to be a condition of democracy.



Political conflict is also gendered: of the 9,639,422 people affected by armed socio-political violence recognised in February 2024, 50.2% were women, and they were 53.2% of all those who suffered forced displacement (UARIV, 2024).

It is important to consider the position of Colombia in terms of regional migration. In 2020, the country received 2.26 million migrants from Venezuela, of which just over half (50.2%) were women (DANE et al., 2022).

#### Background to the growing interest in political masculinities

This section sets out the context for the emergence of men in elected positions in democratic institutions who take up gender equality agendas in Colombia. It is argued that this emergence features two parallel phenomena: the recognition of issues of men and masculinities as a matter of concern that must be addressed by public policies and the emergence of groups of men and individuals who have reflected on gender inequalities and who are interested in this agenda. While the interaction between these processes is conflictive and unequal, it has facilitated the emergence of masculinities as a matter of interest in policies and for male politicians who articulate, advocate, and develop elements of gender equality and feminist agendas.

#### Public policies on men and masculinities

The development of public policy initiatives for the engagement of men in gender equality and for debate on masculinities has been a long-standing interest in the region, with variations and specific characteristics in each country. As scholars like Aguayo and Nascimento (2016) note, pivotal global conferences of the 1990s – the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo and the 1995 World Conference on Women in Beijing – as well as binding treaties like the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), have helped to codify the importance of including men in policy conversations on sexual and reproductive health, violence prevention programmes, paternal obligations, HIV/AIDS and other matters.

As discussed later, the emergence of the studies of men and masculinities in the region has been connected to the development of relevant interventions in social policies and to calls to shift the discussion from concerns about individual crises in men to the promotion of social transformations (Careaga and Cruz Sierra, 2006; Menjívar Ochoa, 2012; Valdés and Olavarría, 1997b; Valdés and Olavarría, 1998).

Universal and regional treaties related to gender equality have played an influential role in shaping laws and public policies in Colombia and the rest of Latin America. Colombia's signing and ratification of such instruments provides activists and advocates with an essential framework for lobbying to institutionalise gender equity principles domestically. These international agreements have contributed to the development of a rights-based framework that social movements have used to apply pressure on governments.

During the Constitutional reform of 1991, for example, a women's working group was created in Colombia to incorporate CEDAW's mandate in the new Constitution. A total of 75 organisations from all over the country joined the Women and Constituent Network, which succeeded in incorporating specific rules into the Political Charter on the general right to equality, women's participation in the public administration, equality in the family and special protection for women heads of households.

Shortly after the promulgation of the 1991 Constitution, a diverse set of women's organisations participated in major legal reform processes based on international instruments, such as the Law against Domestic Violence (1996), the Quota Law (2000), the Law to Guarantee a Life Free of Violence (2008), the Law on Equal Pay (2011) and the Law for the Guarantee of Victims of Sexual Violence in the Context of the Armed Conflict (2014) (see Annex 1 for a chronological overview of Colombian laws related to gender equality).

Legal developments since the early 2000s have focused on constructing guiding frameworks and a supportive bureaucratic infrastructure to ensure the effective implementation of gender equality commitments signed by the Colombian Government. In 2003, for example, Decree 519 created the Presidential Advisory Office for Women's Equity. This body serves as a crucial advisory and coordination entity, focusing on rights and policy issues affecting women. Lawmakers took another significant step in 2023 by transforming this advisory office into a Vice-Ministry of Women's Affairs under the newly established Ministry of Equality through the enactment of Law 2281.

Colombia's inclusion of men and masculinities in gender equality public policies dates back to the beginning of this century. One significant milestone was the inclusion of a module on Masculinities, Gender Relations and Domestic Violence (Gómez et al., 2001) within an educational programme for the general public on the prevention of domestic violence. This was published as part of the development of the National Policy for Peace and Family Co-existence, known as 'Haz Paz'. The programme took the form of handouts and workshops with public officials in the justice sector and family police stations. This policy was continued in the national development plans for 1998–2002 and 2002–2006.

During the 2010s, the institutionalisation of public gender policies and issues of men and masculinities began to include, first, a greater emphasis on the prevention of GBV, and second, ideas of co-responsibility for and the participation of men in care responsibilities. Co-responsibility denotes policies on masculinities to shift the perception of the role of men as mere participants in or contributors to care work, to an understanding of the shared and mutual caring responsibilities of men and women. In 2013, the National Public Policy on Gender Equity was adopted with the inclusion of the 'co-responsibility' of men for care, and an Intersectoral Commission was created for its implementation to give the policy a broader scope of action.

National public policy actions have been paralleled by international cooperation strategies that call for the inclusion of masculinities issues in gender policies. In 2015, actions by the Government of Colombia aligned with the *HeforShe* campaign, promoted by UN Women. The Colombia Country Strategy 2014–2017 included the Strategy for co-responsible, democratic, and non-violent masculinities, which aligns with the first recognition in a National Development Plan (2018-2022) of the 'value of the transformative role of men in the recognition of women's rights' (DNP, 2018:1048). As part of this framework, the National School for the Unlearning of Machismo (Box 1) was launched in November 2020 (García and Hernández, 2022). The current National Development Plan 2022–2026 'Colombia, a world power of life', creates a National Care System that includes programmes for 'awareness-raising, education, and communication for the promotion of caring and nonviolent masculinities, which encourage the full participation of men, young people, and children in care responsibilities' (DNP, 2022:105-106).

#### Box 1: The National School for the Unlearning of Machismo

In November 2020, the Colombian government launched the National School for the Unlearning of Machismo, an educational and communicational campaign to involve men in the promotion of positive changes in gender relations and to tackle GBV. The campaign, which is funded with public, private and international resources, includes 13 graphics to be distributed nationally in social media and shown in public spaces with the motto: 'I unlearn machismo to learn'. The aim is to challenge patriarchal and misogynist cultural attitudes and imagery in the economy, politics, community leadership, education and at home. One of the graphics, shown below, emphasises the importance of having more women participating in politics.



Source: Government of Colombia/SECNewgate Communications.

These communication materials invite the public to join this initiative as a social 'movement' for change and to enrol in the school. The school itself is an educational programme developed through an alliance between the Presidential Council for Women's Equity, the EAN University, the European Union, and USAID's Generating Equity Programme. Its purpose is to encourage public officials and leaders of social organisations to identify, prevent, reflect on and transform sexist imagery, attitudes and practices that are at the base of gender inequities and violence.

The school has both face-to-face and virtual activities. Nearly 1,500 men and women from across the country and from Colombia's diplomatic representations abroad have participated in the school to date. Some of the topics taught through its pedagogical guide (García and Hernández, 2022) include: complicity with machismo, gender stereotypes, misogyny, responsibilities in domestic work and in care, active fatherhood, love relationships, sexuality, women's right to a life free of violence, and machismo in organisations. The school is expected to open a large online course in 2024, aiming to reach at least another 14,000 public employees across the country.

These national policies also have applications at the sub-national level. Over the past two decades, educational and civic engagement campaigns have been developed in Bogotá and in Medellín (Colombia's second largest city), and to a lesser extent in other cities, to raise awareness and sensitise men to issues of violence prevention, co-responsibility in care, and change in notions of masculinity. Most of these strategies target working class men and are implemented at the micro-local level although some also reach the mass media and wider audiences.

While there have been diverse developments in the involvement of men and masculinities in public policies on gender equality across Latin America and in Colombia, six key limitations have been raised since the earliest stages of the growing interest in this issue:

- 1. Improvements in some dimensions of men's lives do not automatically reconfigure unequal gender relations (Keijzer, 2011).
- 2. Changes in male roles may attract excessive attention, reducing the visibility of other problematic and permanent issues (Viveros, 2007).
- 3. Some advances may be partial and provisional, with no guarantee of sustainability (Madrid et al., 2020).
- 4. There is a risk of reinforcing traditional ideas of masculinity that lead men to acquire more power in everyday life (Careaga and Cruz Sierra, 2006).
- 5. The heteronormative condition of public policies can be an obstacle, particularly those that attempt to address issues of gender identity or sexual orientation (Provincia de Buenos Aires, 2023; Serrano Amaya, 2011).
- 6. Cis sexism makes invisible the specific agendas and needs of trans men in public policies (Radi, 2019).

### Men and masculinities collectives

In Latin America, men and masculinities collectives are critical actors in pro-feminist thinking and in the struggle for gender equality (Aguayo and Sadler, 2011; Figueroa, 2011; Jimenez Rodas and Morales Hererra, 2021; Sequeira, 1998; Various authors, 2009). These collectives emerged in the early 1990s, aiming to reflect on the construction of masculinity and its implications for men's relationships with themselves, with women and with other men. The use of the term 'men and masculinities' aims to capture their diversity and heterogeneity. These collectives have contributed to the politicisation of masculinities, public policy advocacy, and the creation of dialogues and connections with gender agendas and feminist mobilisations.

One key reference point for these collectives is the influence of Latin American popular education, grassroots church groups, and popular mobilisations for social justice (Serrano Amaya and Vidal, 2015). This element distinguishes them from similar groups in the United States and European countries where self-reflection, identity development and support are more relevant than social justice because of their origins in awareness raising. These influences and connections with other social mobilisations can be found in experiences across several countries in the region, including Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Chile, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, and Uruguay.

### ALIGN

In 2018, UN Women funded an evaluation of these collectives and other initiatives working with men, in particular those working on issues of violence prevention and 'co-responsible' masculinities (Essayag, 2018). Of 154 initiatives identified in Latin America, 42 were found to have a positive potential to question traditional masculinities, promote gender non-violence, and develop actions on care and co-responsibility. Some include public officials as their target audience or are conducted by governmental bodies.

In all, 17 of the 42 experiences studied have been developed in Colombia. They focus on the promotion of non-violent and co-responsible masculinities, with strategies that include promoting spaces for men to discuss their issues, creating centres where men's needs can be heard, raising awareness through experiential and artistic methods, training promoters to implement prevention campaigns, and pedagogical workshops for adults. There are also policy initiatives to produce gender sensitive data, such as surveys on the social and institutional tolerance of violence against women and on the use of time by men and women. In general, the weaknesses of these strategies include a lack of impact measurements, limited sustainability, and problems to take smaller initiatives to scale and transform them into broader plans of action.

The research found that even in collectives that did not emerge directly under the influence of women's groups, feminism does operate as a 'horizon' of the struggles, and there are shared trajectories between some collectives and others (Essayag, 2018: 64). However, the author also points out that this connection to feminist movements has yet to be developed and warn of the risk of instrumentalising feminist ideas.

The relationship between men and masculinities collectives and feminisms, both as political stakes and as forms of mobilisation, is neither homogeneous nor automatic. On the contrary, there are gaps and unresolved issues, not least because feminisms are not homogeneous either and relate in different ways to masculinities and men's collectives working for gender equality. Pro-feminism is a broad category used to describe a variety of ways to interact with gender equality agendas, including alliances with feminist organisations, participation in gender equality activities or denouncing of GBV. Serrano Amaya and Vidal (2015) identify three ways of understanding 'pro-feminist' in the perspective and action of men's collectives in the region:

- 1. As an alliance with women's and feminist organisations to work on specific projects.
- 2. As support for declarations and demands for gender equality without working directly with women's and feminist organisations and maintaining some separation to work only with men or on men's issues.
- 3. Using feminisms explicitly to identify themselves and to define their agendas and stakes.

Serrano Amaya and Vidal find, however, that when talking about alliances and being in favour of feminisms, it is unclear what dimension of feminist struggles men's collectives align with or with which feminism they identify.

Collectives of men and masculinities in Colombia have three different origins: sexual and reproductive health promotion, the work of feminist organisations, and in academia as outlined below:

**1. Sexual and reproductive health promotion.** Service providers have played a pivotal role in challenging traditional masculinity norms and promoting a more inclusive understanding of gender roles (García and Gómez, 2003; La Furcia, 2013). Profamilia's approach, for example, extends beyond specialised health services to encompass research, education and the formation of support and peer groups focused on men, masculinities, gender and sexual rights.

**2.** Collectives working with or in close relation to feminist organisations. These collectives are heterogeneous, as they combine interests in therapeutic and self-reflection with socio-political organisation and training in popular education and community work. Those that have emerged in Colombia since the mid-1990s include Taller Albierto in the city of Cali (Taller Albierto, n.d.) and the *Colectivo Hombres y Masculinidades* (Men and Masculinities Collective) in Bogotá. The *Mesa Nacional de Masculinidades por la Igualdad de Género* (National Roundtable of Masculinities for Gender Equality) was formed in 2016 and remains active today (Box 2).



National Roundtable of Masculinities for Gender Equality. Photo © Carlos Iván García.

Colombia's National Roundtable of Masculinities for Gender Equality, created in 2016, is a space for the exchange and connection of territorial experiences on men and masculinities. Current participants include representatives from 12 social organisations, four public institutions, and social activists from nine regions across the country. The National Roundtable is the focal point of the MenEngage Global Network for Colombia.

As well as making public statements, the Roundtable organises face-to-face workshops and meetings. It also conducts research and intervention projects with the support of international cooperation agencies such as Promundo, UN Women and the MenEngage Network. In 2020, during the Covid-19 pandemic, the Roundtable promoted the 'Men Who Care' initiative, one of the first virtual strategies in Latin America that called on men to talk about care, aiming to counteract violence, inequity and inequality unleashed by pandemic confinement measures.

At its latest national meeting, held in November 2023, in Medellín, members reaffirmed their commitment to carry out advocacy actions in public policies with a focus on gender and masculinities, as well as to promote the ethics and economy of care as a fundamental axis of change in masculinities in their work with men, through partnerships with key stakeholders.

### ALIGN

**3. Academic spaces**. Universities have facilitated the emergence of collectives interested in masculinities either at the intersection between self-reflection and research or through work that is more oriented toward academia. These include the Masculinity Studies Network of the National University (1996-1998); the research group Family Studies, Masculinities and Femininities of the University of Cartagena, created in 1999; the New Masculinities groups of the Industrial University of Santander created in 2008; and the University of Pamplona 10 years later.

There have been various forms of confluence between these origins, such as the simultaneous participation of some men in academia and in social activism, and activities such as fora and seminars where these different initiatives combine. However, their different origins also imply different approaches to gender equality and to feminism, from those more oriented to the promotion of behaviour change (such as sexual rights collectives) and from the self-reflection of those coming from a feminist background, to the critical analysis of gender and power in the more academic collectives. This variety of initiatives matters for the consideration of the development of some collective interest in positioning men and masculinities as a matter for public discussion.

### Scholarship on men and masculinities in the region

Men's studies in Latin America have been closely linked to feminism, to initiatives for social transformation and development (such as those promoted by UN agencies or by international cooperation agencies in European countries), and to social mobilisations on gender, transformation and social justice. There has, for example, been a long-term theoretical interest in understanding masculinities in relation to the question of power and the way in which patriarchy has shaped Latin American societies and cultures (Valdés and Olavarría, 1997a) and masculinities (Schöngut Grollmus, 2012; Martini, 2002; Albelda, 2011). Some initial studies sought to question the concept of 'machismo', a term that is often used and that stereotypes Latin American societies, hiding the structural conditions that have produced, and resulted from, gender inequality (Fuller, 1998; Gutmann, 1998; Gutmann, 1996; Lancaster, 1992).

Interactions between men and masculinities with various dimensions of gender politics have been studied extensively in the region to demonstrate their complexity, permanence, and resistance to change. Some key issues explored have included the growing but still limited participation of women in elected democratic positions and the impact of this on male control of politics (Ruiz Tena, 2022; Wills Obregón and Cardozo García, 2010), as well as on lack of gender parity in representative positions and the reproduction of violence against women in politics (Albaine, 2015; Romo, 2008).

*Caudillismo* is a concept used extensively in the studies of Latin American political culture. The term is used to explain how, since the formation of Latin American states, political power has been wielded by men who embody a type of populist, authoritarian and individualist approach that is embedded in a patriarchal, heterosexist, classist, and racist masculinity – a masculinity that perpetuated colonial power during the emergence of 19<sup>th</sup> century republics (Crespo, 2015; González, 1982). Even in countries with a certain tradition of gender equality and explicit policies to promote women's participation, such as quota laws, there are still spaces that are closed to women and controlled by traditional forms of male politics (Campbell, 2006).

The first studies of masculinities in Colombia emerged in the mid-1990s in the framework of alliances between nascent groups of activists, organisations and universities. La Furcia (2013) suggests that studies on masculinities in Colombia emerge from five sources:

- 1. feminist academic scholarship
- 2. the actions of private institutions working on sexual and reproductive health with specific services for men

- 3. non-governmental groups and organisations that organise interventions with men
- 4. public sector social programmes on issues such as fatherhood, violence and sexual and reproductive health
- 5. individual initiatives in the field of masculinities that are not necessarily associated with activism.

As politics is a space for male control, some men use a variety of mechanisms to exercise their power over others, taking advantage of the patriarchal system in which they find themselves (Connell, 2005; Messerschmidt, 2010). This can be seen not only in structural issues but also in everyday forms of political interaction, such as debates, conflict management, or the creation of alliances to conduct political projects. We know less about the importance of masculinities for electoral participation and representation, however, particularly in thinking about the gendered status of men in politics.

There is little academic discussion of the role of male politicians in gender agendas in Colombia. There is, however, a growing body of knowledge on how masculinities enter the political sphere and political power relations. Two themes, in particular, have been developed: the political masculinities of men in representative positions, and the relationships across masculinities, militarism and conflict.

Viveros (2013) studied the intersections of race, masculinity and political power by analysing the ways in which President Álvaro Uribe Vélez (2002-2010) used his media image of masculinity and whiteness to gain political legitimacy and popularity. This study demonstrates the political benefits of a traditional masculinity associated with firmness and authority. It also aligns with studies on presidents such as Duterte, Trump, Bolsonaro and Putin as examples of politicians who embody masculine, racist, sexist and classist privileges, both in their political agendas and in the way they exercise political power (Borba, 2021; Valente and Borba, 2023).

A study of the gender policy of President Álvaro Uribe Vélez by Bernal et al. (2022) found that the notion of women's role during his administration promoted the idea of empowerment and economic entrepreneurship in gender equality policies. The comparison is relevant to highlight how two seemingly contradictory but relevant ideas of gender can be combined in terms of the practice of a specific policy agenda.

A second group of studies with a certain tradition in Colombia is concerned with issues of masculinities, armed conflict, and peacebuilding. This is relevant, given the importance of the armed conflict in shaping politics in Colombia and its impact on the politics of gender and sexuality. In its diversity, this literature demonstrates how the production of forms of masculinity and gender regimes have been central to the dynamics of the armed conflict in Colombia. If caudillismo is central to the political practices of those who wield political power, then militarism is its counterpart. Therefore, studies were found on:

- men in armed groups and criminal organisations and their constructions of masculinity both before and after the war (Baird, 2018; Andrés Rivera and Escobar, 2018; Flisi, 2016; Neira Cruz and Castillo Olarte, 2021; Theidon, 2009)
- the symbolic production of militarist masculinities to legitimise state action (Poveda, 2019)
- the gender regimes of the guerrillas (Dietrich Ortega, 2012)
- the impacts of war on the gender constructions of non-combatants (Browne et al., 2021)
- the importance of militarism for the construction of gender identities and national identity (Losada, 2022; Ovalle et al., 2022).

## **Research objectives and methods**

This research aims to understand the personal and socio-political causes and factors behind the recent emergence of male politicians in Colombia who adopt feminist identities or support gender equality agendas. It also intends to explore the factors that facilitate or impede the commitment of male politicians to such agendas and whether this contributes to any shifts in gender norms that are tied to political leaders and masculine norms more broadly. The study forms a part of a cross-country collaborative research project on *Men in Politics as Agents of Gender Equitable Change* conducted in Colombia, Liberia and Malaysia with leaders who support feminist foreign policies (See Michalko et al., 2024).

This cross-country project asks three questions:

- 1. How do feminist, pro-feminist, or gender equality champions amongst male politicians perceive gender norms in their country context and around the world?
- 2. How do gender norms and other factors shape how these men act and the type of masculinities they demonstrate in the political sphere?
- 3. What impact, if any, do the feminist, pro-feminist, or gender equality champions among male politicians have on gender norms and masculinities in their society?

In the case of Colombia, three additional specific research questions were included:

- 1. How do these politicians position themselves in relation to gender equity agendas and feminism?
- 2. Which factors motivate them to participate in such agendas?
- 3. How do they do it?

### **Research methodology**

The departing premise of the research was a consideration of gender as a relational issue. Therefore, even if the focus was on men and (political) masculinities, the research explored not only the perceptions of men, but also the interactions among men as a diverse group and between men and women, also as diverse groups. It also explored political masculinities not only from the perspective of those formerly or currently involved in politics, but also from the perspective of civil society, in this case represented by university students.

This study has used qualitative research techniques. All research methods and protocols have been designed by the international team from all three country case studies coordinated by ODI, and then translated into Spanish and approved by the Ethics Committee at Universidad de los Andes (Uniandes). All information was collected in Spanish. In all, six focus groups and 16 in-depth interviews were conducted between July and September 2023 by the two main researchers and authors of this report.

The research was divided into two phases of work: data collection, and data analysis and writing. In the first phase, a list was created with the profile of 50 people of interest for interviews, including male and female politicians, academics and activists involved in gender politics. Male politicians were selected on the basis of their involvement in gender equality initiatives, such as legal reforms or public advocacy and commitment to gender policies. The female politicians have all been prominent in

writing or speaking out in support of initiatives aimed at gender equality. The activists were involved in creating, researching and organising gender equality initiatives, while the academics were selected for their participation in research on masculinities. In some cases, the division of categories has not been so neat, because some politicians have had previous experience in academia, and some academics are also activists.

This research has focused on male politicians who have taken elected democratic positions in government. The report will use the terms 'male politicians' and 'men in politics' interchangeably to refer to them. It is understood that the landscape of men in politics is broader, since it may include also men designated for positions in state institutions, such as Ministries or High Courts. While this research does not include these men, further research with them is highly recommended.

Possible participants were contacted by e-mail with an invitation explaining the research objectives and methodology and a consent form. All interviews were conducted via Zoom and lasted between 60 and 90 minutes (though some participants had less time available). Interviews were recorded after the signing of written consent or the oral consent of participants.

The final sample for interviews was composed of seven Colombian male politicians, three Colombian feminist female politicians and six Colombian social activists, four of whom are also academics. Of the politicians interviewed, one belongs to a right-wing party, and nine to the centre political parties, mostly associated with the Green Party. Participants are identified in their quotes by their political party to illustrate their different political perspectives.

The focus groups included students from two private universities in Bogotá and activists in the field of gender, masculinities and the LGBTQI+ community. Focus groups were held from June to October 2023. Of the six focus groups, four were held with university students from two universities in Bogotá. The focus on students aimed to explore how political masculinities and the actions of male politicians' impact young people, as part of civil society. One university attracts mostly students from the middle to upper classes and the other mostly working class or middle-class students. There were two focus groups in each university, one with young men and another with young women. Participants were recruited through open invitations that were publicised in university spaces. Non-binary students were invited to join the group of their preference. In total, 14 men and nine women took part in the student focus groups, with an average age of 20 years.

Focus group participants were provided with summary information sheets about the project and the focus group methodology. Students filled out a survey that collected general data on their political positioning and socio-economic classification, which was kept confidential. Most were in their third year of university and their fields of study ranged from social sciences and humanities to electronics and engineering. None of the participants expressed any explicit affiliation to a political party. With the exception of three students, the majority voted in the most recent elections for parties identified as left-wing. And with the exception of one participant who identified as Mestizo (mixed race), the majority identified their ethnicity/race as being Colombian. Finally, the participants stated that their socio-economic background allowed them access to public transport and to the internet at home, and reported that the internet was their main source of information.

Two focus groups were conducted with activists. One was conducted with seven members of the *Mesa Nacional de Masculinidades por la Igualdad de Género* – National Roundtable of Masculinities for Gender Equality, with an average age of 39. All participants identified with the statement about their socio-economic context 'my main economic resources come from my work' and all identified as men. Three of the seven participants identified themselves as Colombian, one as a member of an Indigenous community, one as Mestizo, one as 'other' and one did not specify. None of the participants is a member of a political party, but they identify more closely with left-wing parties.



Another focus group was conducted with LGBTQI+ activists, with an average age of 37. Only one of the five participants is a member of a left-wing party. Two participants identified as Colombian, two as mixed, and one as Afro-Colombian. Four stated that their gender identity is male, and one identified as non-binary. Two are Catholic, one preferred not to answer, one is Christian, and one agnostic. All respondents identify with the statement about their socio-economic context 'I live alone, and I am responsible for my own well-being'.

The methodology promoted participation and the development of ideas during the conversation. All focus groups began by showing the participants two images (see Figures 1 and 2) of the current president of Colombia, Gustavo Petro, who accepted the invitation of 36 feminist collectives to participate in a debate on 2 June 2022, during his presidential campaign. During that debate, the then presidential candidate received and wore a scarf that has been emblematic of the struggle for the right to the voluntary termination of pregnancy.



Figure 1: Picture of President Petro used for focus group discussions

Source: EFE/Carlos Ortega, 2022.



Figure 2: Picture of President Petro used for focus group discussions

Source: EFE/Carlos Ortega, 2022.

These images were used to start a conversation about the involvement of male politicians in feminist and gender agendas.

In the second phase, interviews and focus groups recordings were transcribed and anonymised before being shared with other participants in the research. The information was organised according to the agreed nomenclature and the team's own layout. Finally, the transcribed information was analysed using a qualitative coding matrix with the key categories of the research. This coding matrix was the basis for the writing of this final report.

In terms of ethics and positionality, both main researchers are known academics and activists in gender, masculinities and LGBTQI+ rights in Colombia. This facilitated access to some of the interviewees and to participants in the focus groups. To avoid some possible interference due to such familiarity, there was an agreement to adhere as closely and consistently as possible to the established order and wording of the research protocols. At the beginning of each interview or focus group there was a clear explanation of the researcher's role in the research, their involvement in the topic and the goals of the research. When calling for participants in the focus groups, there was also an agreement that researchers' current students would not be included.

### **Research limitations**

This is an exploratory study. Its main limitations are:

- 1. Sampling. The lack of response to the invitation to politicians to participate was significant and several attempts were needed to obtain a sample of participants, in particular male politicians. The limited response to the invitation may be because data collection took place in the months prior to local and regional elections in October 2023. Male politicians have also declined to be interviewed because they do not feel that they are the right people to talk about this, even if they have promoted some initiatives.
- **2. Generalisability.** Due to the small sampling size for interviews and focus groups, research results are more illustrative than general for the populations included.
- **3.** Homogeneity. The male politicians interviewed are mostly those who have expressed some interest in supporting gender agendas as a part of their open commitment to law reform for gender equality. Members of parties who opposed gender policies were not interviewed. Students who participated in the focus groups are mostly those who express some interest in gender issues and while this was relevant to their contribution, it also implied less interest from those who may have different perspectives. There were no focus groups in public universities or in universities outside Bogotá, due to limited access.



## Findings

This section presents the main findings of the research in three sub-sections. The first discusses the ways in which male politicians relate to feminisms, as well as their motivations, positioning and perspectives on change for gender equality. The second sub-section explores the factors that facilitate or impede the work of male politicians for gender equality. The final sub-section shares the perspectives of young male and female students and activists on the participation of male politicians in gender equality policies.

These findings aim to show how men in politics who support gender agendas have developed initiatives to discuss their place as men and as politicians in the struggle for gender equality, working in alliances with women politicians and feminist organisations to position these issues in laws and public policies. They have also contributed to the development and expansion of the idea of 'gender', including questions of masculinities as well as sexual orientation or gender identities in ongoing debates. They are, however, a heterogeneous group with diverse political affiliations and understandings of gender and feminisms and do not always act collectively or with clear articulation. Their reasons for supporting gender agendas are also varied and range from personal interests anchored in their own lives, their political agendas, or their party programmes, as will be discussed.

## Men, feminism, and politics: an empty signifier

I never intended to present myself as a feminist man or as a feminist leader being a man, or even as a champion on gender issues, but doing it was to me much more genuine, spontaneous, not calculated... I don't think I am a feminist, I always approached it from common sense. Male politician, right-wing party

The male politicians interviewed were cautious about calling themselves feminists, even if they were asked to participate in gender equality initiatives. None of the interviewees responded affirmatively to calling themselves a feminist. Instead, they insisted that gender struggles have been led by women and that they cannot, therefore, appropriate their struggles or claim spaces in feminist mobilisations. This way of positioning themselves to express a critical and self-reflective view of the risks of appropriation or the impossibility of 'being' feminists because they are men was more evident in those who had the closest relationships with feminist discussions and perspectives. In other words, there is a tendency to not self-identify as feminist and to keep a certain – and cautious – distance.

This is consistent with feminist critiques of men's participation in feminisms and reflects, among those who report such a cautious attitude, some absorption of such critiques. It could also be the result of current anti-feminist activism that paints feminism in a negative light and leads politicians who depend on public support to keep a certain distance.

Respondents across all political parties tended to identify themselves as 'allies' or to express profound empathy toward gender and social justice issues. This allyship was seen as a core part of their overall political ideologies, rather than as any direct affiliation with feminist movements. This perspective suggests a nuanced interpretation of their roles in relation to feminist advocacy that avoids direct identification with the movements themselves. Notably, there were various interpretations of this allyship, indicating that the concept functions as an 'empty signifier' (Laclau, 1996). This term refers to a rhetorical construct that, while resonant and significant in discourse, lacks a universally acknowledged definition. As such, it allows for multiple interpretations that depend on the subjective perspectives of those involved. The ally position expressed by the interviewees starts from a recognition of the quest for gender justice as a general political umbrella of work, while acknowledging the specificity of women's struggles and feminism as a social movement with its own agendas. As mentioned, it also suggests a cautious distancing from feminisms due to not feeling legitimate to claim a space there.

The sense of allyship also varies in degrees of sympathy, commitment, and participation in feminist agendas. This coincides with previous research (Serrano Amaya and Vidal, 2015) that finds a variety of meanings for the concept of allyship, which is sometimes underdeveloped or used in a general way to define some closeness, empathy or commitment. What seems new here is the caution or reflection on the impossibility of claiming membership in feminism, which may be associated with some literacy on feminist discussions and on the increasing impact of feminist struggles on public debates. Interestingly, this rejection of a sense of belonging creates a view of feminism as some kind of otherness and fails to challenge the male/female gender binary that presents masculinity and femininity as homogeneous realms.

One of the male politicians interviewed proposed the possibility of working with feminist agendas without assuming that it implies being in the same place:

I identify myself as an ally. Our causes are similar but not the same. I don't pretend to take up the banners of feminism because I'm not the one and I'm not called to do that. What I always say is that we walk hand in hand... We have to manage to walk hand in hand. Considering myself as part of feminism seems to me to invade that space of that struggle a little, and I am very respectful of the struggles of each one of us. Male politician, centrist party

Another interviewee, reflecting on his own experience as a politician and policy maker, makes a distinction between those who call themselves feminist just to express some empathy and those allies who have made clear and explicit contributions to gender and feminist struggles:

I am not going to be so bold as to describe myself as a feminist, a media feminist, but I have been an ally. Yes, I have been an ally, I have been committed to gender equality and I believe that I have contributed, and I have transformed myself. I have supported, I have collaborated, I have learned, and I have transformed myself. I also say this calmly and with pleasure. Male politician, centrist party

Another way of understanding the meaning of being an ally involves recognising that men have certain privileges that they can use to promote change. In this case, having a political responsibility implies using that position as a platform to promote the work of feminist organisations or gender agendas more widely. In this respect, one interviewee pointed out:

It's not my banner [gender agendas], it's not the main reason why I do what I do, it's not up to me, but it does guarantee being the platform for these other people. Male politician, centrist party

This idea can relate to the concept of patriarchal privilege introduced in social studies on masculinities to explain how men as a group benefit from the power imbalance in gender relations (Connell, 2005). The call to recognise their own privilege has become part of a common language of feminist challenges to male power, often heard in public debates and feminist mobilisations. Some male politicians are questioned by the ideas that circulate in feminist debates and are incorporating them into their explanations of their understanding of alliance.



This positioning in terms of 'sharing but not being in the same place' may also be a way to point out that not all feminist issues or agendas have the same resonance for male politicians in this study. Strategic positioning allows them to navigate responsibility, commitment and political coherence. In this regard, one interviewee notes:

I don't know if I'm a feminist or not... I would like to be named an ally to the cause, because I do believe that this is a cause that has a very clear ownership by women who demand their own right. I believe that I am not a feminist to some extent, because I do not share all the causes of feminism. Male politician, right-wing party

As well as avoiding feminist identities, the male politicians interviewed do not label themselves as representatives of 'alternative' or 'new' masculinities either. Rather, they relate their various experiences and postures to personal self-reflection and to their efforts to promote the need for change and to educate their political colleagues. For one politician interviewed (male, centrist party) gender equality has become a phrase used as part of the general repertoire of politics, as something politically correct rather than as a real commitment. In his experience, he sees many inconsistencies between what his male colleagues say in relation to supporting gender equality and their practices in daily life:

I look at their behaviours and I say 'this one still has a long way to go', in the sense that they still expect women to be the ones who serve them. Male, centrist party politician

As a reaction to cases of political violence in the Bogotá City Council, one of the interviewees (male, centrist party politician) proposed creating a group in the Council called 'Traitors of the Patriarchy', that lasted for a short time. His idea's aim was to generate a proposal in the Council, and beyond, that would 'contribute to the construction of responsible, non-violent, caring masculinities that would have a different role within society'. He is now on a kind of pedagogical mission:

I do always try in any space, even if it is a small or closed meeting with other councillors, to make them realise: 'what you are saying is super outdated. Your joke is violent'. Male, centrist party politician

Taking a similar position of problematising the experience of masculinity and that of his colleagues, a congressman believes that the rudeness of male politicians expresses a fragile masculinity:

We have to try to make a change to understand that masculinity is not that macho, brave, rude, aggressive man. The issue of telling men 'you have to get involved because this is a rights issue'. This is not a question of his manhood or his masculinity.

Male, centrist party politician

This implies the need to advance the discussion of whether the way to resolve men's place in relation to feminism is about identity and whether these male politicians are indicating other kinds of relationships. It also raises questions about whether this resistance to labelling oneself as part of feminism may be linked to strategic distancing, given that not claiming to be a feminist provides some public protection in a context where the term arouses resistance. This last aspect is of particular relevance in a context of increasing anti-feminism and anti-gender mobilisations in Colombia and across the region (Correa, 2018), which affects the positioning of politicians on feminism and gender agendas.

### Male politicians, positioning and gender equality

The positioning of the male politicians interviewed on gender equality agendas can be broadly classified according to three types of relationships. These are summarised in Table 1, which includes examples of initiatives identified in this research.

Type of allyship	Examples of initiatives
<b>Temporary and strategic support</b> Refers to politicians who support gender equality initiatives in response to calls from other legislators to participate in their projects. This support is the result of temporary and circumstantial political alliances and is a consequence of the advocacy and convincing capacity of those promoting gender agendas. As one female politician and feminist activist noted, it relates to the men who 'get on board' when they are called but who do not demonstrate a permanent commitment.	In response to the invitation of a female member of the House of Representatives of a centrist party – who was interviewed for this research – several male colleagues from various right-wing parties agreed to support her 2021 legislative initiative, which aimed to promote and strengthen sexuality education in the country.
Development of their own gender-focused initiatives Refers to politicians who develop concrete projects on gender issues as part of their more sustained interest. The topics emerge from their own agendas, campaigns, or political party issues. In several cases, these are actions that politicians mobilise in alliance with social organisations or their constituencies. These may be specific projects and are not necessarily the result of sustained collective agendas.	Some of the male politicians interviewed, who belong to a centrist party, and members of the LGBTQI+ community, support gender equality initiatives as well as projects to defend the rights to sexual freedom. For example, Bogotá Council debated a legislative project to guarantee the rights of transgender persons to all health services. Another example was the 2022 bill to prohibit conversion therapies. This initiative was presented by male representatives of a centrist party with the support of other members of Congress, including a representative of a left-wing party who openly identifies as a member of the LGBTQI+ community.
Incorporation of gender in other political agendas Refers to politicians with established political careers (or those who have responsibility in executive positions) who integrate or mainstream their support for gender equality into other areas of their work, such as social development plans or employment policies. Some male politicians interviewed report having people in their technical teams who are responsible for checking that there is an explicit gender perspective in their initiatives, even if these initiatives do not deal directly with gender topics. As in the previous case, the design and implementation of such agendas are closely related to alliances with women's social movements and progressive perspectives in their political practice.	Some public servants and politicians from centrist parties have implemented cultural transformation initiatives such as banning beauty pageants and replacing them with a contest for talented young women in Medellín, the country's second city, or the establishment of a telephone counselling service for men in Bogotá. These initiatives have taken place within the framework of a generally progressive agenda in terms of social equity.

Table 1: Three positions of male politicians on the gender equality agenda
--

The general tendency, however, is that these reflect individual commitments or the interests of specific men at a given moment in their political careers. In other words, they are not articulated actions that are sustained over time or the result of alliances between male politicians that allow for the continuity, accumulation, or escalation of actions. In addition, the lack of any explicit mention that their commitment to gender issues was a response to their party mandate indicates a limited connection to more sustained political projects.

The male politicians interviewed exhibit a certain political pragmatism in their understanding of gender, what they can do within the feminism and gender equality agendas, and the role they assign to politics as an instrument of gender norm change. The following quote illustrates this pragmatism and summarises the profile of male politicians described in this section:

I believe that when society produces unjust realities or structures of exclusion, it is somewhat the role of law and the state to attack such circumstances, and that certainly happens in the role of women in society. I have no idea if that makes me a feminist or not, and I understand that feminism is extremely diverse and nuanced... I do believe that our role in this is to reinforce, to support, to help to add up.

Male politician, right-wing party

## Motivations and politicisation of gender experience: the personal is political

All male politicians interviewed expressed a particular sensitivity or interest in gender issues because of their personal histories. For example, they talked about having grown up in family environments where they witnessed gender inequality, or in families with strong and important female figures, or having feminist life partners who are committed to these issues. However, their personal motivations underwent various forms of politicisation to become salient for their political work.

One of these processes of politicisation relates to sexual orientation. Male politicians who are openly gay express a more explicit connection between their experience as gay men and their sensitivity, concern, interest or alliance in relation to gender issues. One interviewee said:

Discrimination for me has been the driving force of my struggle... For me, the fact that since I was a child I suffered discrimination, at school, at university, being taken out of a bar for being with a group of LGBTQI+ friends who were dancing when the bar was supposed to be heterosexual and requested that you had to respect others...

Male politician, centrist party

The heterosexual male politicians who were interviewed did not connect or reflect on their heterosexuality and their interest in gender issues to the same extent. Instead, they reflect on their male privilege as a motivation and as a source of their responsibility to act. Their politicisation seems to occur through their interactions with feminist politics at personal or collective level, which allows them to read their individual and collective position in gender terms. For example, one interviewee who had an important career in academia and public opinion explained his motivation as a kind of moral duty:

I have also been able to see from my role as a male leader in the public sphere, in politics, in the community, the advantages that a man has... And here women not only break glass ceilings but also cement ones. I have been able to see this throughout my life through my family, through my friends, through the people closest to me.

Male politician, centrist party

Several of the interviewees recognised both the privileges they enjoy as men, and the injustices derived from gender inequalities and violence that they consider to be common elements in society. This recognition appears to be related to their response to feminist critiques of male power and suggests a displacement from the other ways in which pro-feminist men position themselves. They were exposed to those critiques through their interaction with feminism in academia or in their work with social mobilisations.

What these male politicians are saying could be connected to new positionings in pro-feminist politics that are characterised by 'humility, self-critique and vigilance' and the recognition of structural complicity (Wolfman, 2023). However, such recognition is also problematic if it remains at purely a personal level and is not connected to a broader discussion of structural inequalities. Amuchastegui coined the concept of 'guilty vigilance' (2006: 170) to explain how some men justify their commitment to feminist agendas based on individual guilt for living in some privilege, but without connecting this to the structures that produce such guilt.

The politicisation of personal experience among male politicians can also be explained through the sensitivity to social injustice and economic or political inequality that is gained through collective action. Examples of such collective processes included participation in a citizens' initiative, academic or training actions, joining political parties, or contact with other people with previous experience on these issues. This finding suggests the benefits of intersectional approaches to various social justice struggles and the opportunities to politicise men for gender equality through other issues of interest to them, such as efforts to deepen democracy and protect individual and collective rights, struggles for dignity or even discussions on environmental rights or climate change.

Generational differences and changes also have an impact on the understanding of what should be transformed for gender equality and how. Several interviewees, as well as focus group participants, agreed that more young men in general, as well as male politicians, are becoming more progressive, liberal and equality-minded, with attitudes that may break with the ideological lines of their own parties. In the 2018-2022 legislature, for example, a cross-party alliance of young politicians was formed, which resulted in the approval of several important gender equality initiatives. These included flexible parental leave, the possibility of choosing the order of children's surnames, and some rules for the promotion of work equity and the closing of labour gaps for women. Interestingly, generational changes seem to be more relevant factors for politicisation than party affiliation – an area that requires further research.

It may also be misleading to associate the promotion of gender equality with progressive politics. This may reflect what Messner describes as 'the tendency in privileged men's gender strategies to present oneself as an educated modern man who is supportive of gender equality' (2016: 13). In the case of Bogotá, a male councillor from a centrist party stated:

I know young politicians who are from right-wing parties, who are absolutely open and progressive on many of these issues, who defend some women's issues, LGBTQI+ inclusion, because they connect more with this generation in this respect, although they are more conservative on security, on the economy, more punitive.

Male politician, centrist party

This perception of younger politicians as more interested in gender equality can be seen as a way in which some of the male politicians interviewed justify their initiatives. It does not necessarily correspond to a generalised fact (or one that can be confirmed by other data). It does, however, open a discussion on how male politicians perceive gender in relation to other social justice issues and, in particular, how gender can be co-opted by other political agendas.

### Understanding of feminism and gender equality

Diverse forms of collective politicisation resulted in a diverse understanding among male politicians of 'gender equity', 'gender equality', 'justice' or the very idea of what gender is. In this respect, the agendas of the politicians interviewed are closer to questions of gender violence, equality and access to rights such as sexual and reproductive rights or political rights. In some cases, the idea of gender equality is connected to social justice agendas in general. In others, the notion of gender is broadened to include issues of masculinities or the rights of LGBTQI+ people.

The perception that some issues are considered more appropriate for men as part of gender agendas was corroborated by the women politicians interviewed. One pointed out that there is a certain hierarchy of issues or topics that are easier for men to accept than others. For example, women's issues are more 'acceptable' than LGBTQI+ rights. There are further hierarchies within these issues, with women politicians saying that men are more receptive to, for example, issues of labour or political equality than to those of sexual and reproductive rights or abortion, which would generate more resistance. Similarly, there is a greater willingness to discuss LGBTQI+ issues in terms of anti-discrimination or marriage equality than in terms of transgender rights issues, which face more resistance than issues of sexual orientation.

The men interviewed made no references to other feminist agendas such as radical feminisms, lesbian feminisms, or intersectional or colonial feminism. This may be because these agendas, although present in activism and academia, still have a limited presence in policy discussions or in projects for legal change. This raises concerns about whether these men would be interested in representing such agendas, whether these feminisms could dialogue with these male politicians as allies of their agendas, and even whether such feminism is interested in policy making or mobilisation inside the state.

The contrast with the perspectives of women politicians who include masculinities issues in their agendas is of relevance here. For some of them, the idea of 'gender equity' is not in conflict with the idea of working on gender and masculinities. One interviewee, a female politician, academic and feminist activist, has worked on an initiative that focused on men and their responsibility for care, although this aimed to address a situation of inequality experienced by women. She promotes the Intersectoral Care Working Group of Bogotá, created in 2014, where civil society organisations, academic institutions, political institutions and state entities come together to discuss the effects of the sexual division of labour in maintaining unpaid and feminised care work. The Working Group also develops public policy strategies to recognise care as a socially relevant problem and to advocate for the rights of those who are mostly involved in the economy of care. In this perspective, the participation of men in gender change is positioned as addressing specific issues rather than as a generic call for inclusion.

## Change: obstacles and facilitators

This section explores the factors that impede or facilitate action by male politicians in favour of gender politics. These factors act across diverse levels, from the individual to the collective and from the structural to responses to specific circumstances or issues. The main obstacles faced by male politicians in supporting gender equality initiatives are found at the macro, structural, and long-term levels, such as political party structures and political participation systems. The facilitators tend to be found at the micro, local scale, and include changes within political parties or alliance making.

This finding is relevant for the consideration of the areas that are likely to have the greatest impact in terms of engaging more men to join these agendas with more adequate, sustained and high-quality initiatives. While macro-level changes are necessary, they may involve more complex strategies for action. The facilitators, when accumulated and acted upon at the local level, may have more capacity for advocacy, continuity, and ownership by those who promote them.

#### Obstacles to the commitment of male politicians with gender equality

Obstacles to the commitment of male politicians to gender equality agendas relate to the way in which gender norms shape the interest of political actors in this issue. The patriarchal condition of politics remains a structural factor that limits actions, but it can be either reproduced or transformed in various ways when it comes to political action.

This section first explores how gender orders and regimes affect the way in which male politicians relate to gender issues and then how they navigate them through diverse political strategies. While gender orders are structural factors, such as the economy, social structure or political power, which define gender, gender regimes are the ways in which an institution is gendered and, in turn, produces forms of gender relations (Connell, 1987). Political institutions have their own gender regimes that interact with the broader gender orders. Both factors are interrelated but are dealt with in different ways, depending on the male politicians' background, agenda and political positioning.

#### Gender orders and regimes in politics

Male politicians report that one of the obstacles faced by those who support gender agendas is the patriarchal nature of politics – meaning that politics produces and reproduces patriarchy and is, therefore, resistant to gender equality. The interviewees, despite coming from a spectrum of political parties and ideologies, all point out that the forms of political practice of their male peers are a major obstacle that prevents or hinder progress on gender issues.

This situation is seen as part of the status quo that is defended and maintained by 'traditional politics'. In naming 'traditional politics' as a form of politics based on male control, these politicians position themselves and their interest in gender equality as being associated with modernity and progressive politics. This factor is of relevance to this report's understanding of how politicians explain the limitations they face and how they justify their actions.

These obstacles to the work of male politicians on gender issues are associated with the perceptions that those who are not feminist allies or gender equality champions perpetuate 'macho culture'. Macho culture and machismo are terms often used by the politicians interviewed to encapsulate the societal attitudes they want to leave behind, and that are related to male control, male privilege and misogyny. According to the research participants, this culture not only prevents women's full



participation in politics, but also makes gender equality issues irrelevant, or prevents more sustained change. The 'macho culture' according to one interviewee:

[Macho culture] prevents the participation of women. Because it is aggressive, it is violent, because it causes fear, because being exposed, because anything is an aggression and it takes one more step, one more effort for a woman to dare. Male politician, centrist party

The macho culture is also reflected in the forms of interaction in politics and among male politicians. According to some interviewees, male politicians can also be affected by gender stereotypes when, for example, supporting certain gender equality issues is seen as undermining their identity or personal and political image. This is seen most clearly in the case of support for agendas around LGBTQI+ rights.

It is important to take a critical look at how male politicians use the idea of macho culture as an all-encompassing explanatory term to justify a lack of responsibility or to deny their own agency in changing gender roles. Even more, the use of the term to explain gender inequalities creates a perception that the problem is based more on generalised cultural characteristics than on the social or structural conditions of inequality.

In contrast to the idea of some structural obstacles such as machismo, the interviewees also stated that there is now a tendency to treat gender in politics as a matter of being 'politically correct'. In their understanding, gender equality is an issue that few politicians in general will oppose explicitly, but it is one that they would not actively support either. In the following testimony, an interviewee describes the resistance he faced from other male politicians to one of his initiatives on gender issues:

So, they were the ones who were all absent from the discussions, they were never there, but they didn't want to put it on the agenda either, because if they put it on the agenda, then they would get on some people's backs, but if they voted no, they would get on other people's backs. So, to be politically correct, they decided to simply absent themselves, to stay away from the decision on whether to take the debate to the second debate. Male politician, centrist party

The behaviour of male political peers in response to other men's support for gender agendas is most evident in the case of those who are openly gay. These interviewees have experienced the derogatory or subordinate valuation of their work on gender issues, as this work is seen as being driven by their sexual orientation and is, therefore, subject to suspicion. Even heterosexual male politicians noted that their sexual orientation was sometimes called into question for raising these issues among their peers. Still, none of those who reported this behaviour said that such accusations were a problem for them or their political careers. Further exploration might reveal whether supporting gender equality agendas could work in positive ways for heterosexual male politicians who may obtain some gains by being perceived as more 'progressive' or 'modern'.

The male politicians interviewed describe their situation as one of a tension between the impossibilities of changing something so embedded as a machismo culture and the banalisation of gender equality. Behind this is the issue of how gender agendas enter political arenas, under which hierarchies and languages and how individual and collective interests are negotiated. This topic is expanded in the next section.

#### Strategies to navigate political obstacles

The politicians identified two key barriers to their support of gender equality: economic costs and political calculus. The main obstacles reflect the fact that to be considered pro-feminist, male politicians need to make a real commitment to gender agendas. The obstacle they face is how to navigate the political game. The economic costs or challenges of building the alliances needed to make the necessary changes successfully often outweigh any interest in support, or allyship, for gender equality.

The economic cost of gender initiatives is, from the perspective of some interviewees, a powerful political argument that is used to prevent change. One of the female politicians interviewed pointed out that this issue was the most difficult to address in a masculinities-focused initiative that she promoted. The cost of the proposed change, rather than the need for this change, was the main argument used by public institutions and by opposition legislators. To win the support of both public and private economic actors, such as businesses, the promoter of this initiative had to gain support from influential economic sectors that made the same economic case to show its benefits. The politician also recalls that those most in favour of the initiative were women from the private sector.

Economic or budgetary investments were seen as another factor that can demonstrate real commitments to gender equality, because they so often make the difference between commitments on paper and concrete action. This is of particular importance in Colombia, where gender-focused law-making is prolific, but implementation is limited. The fact that politicians mention this issue as an obstacle highlights the need to shift the discussion on feminist political masculinities beyond the realms of individual will or moral duty where these issues are often framed.

Another aspect related to the reality of politics is the electoral calculus. The male politicians interviewed are cautious about associating their support for gender equality with a direct political gain or loss. While these issues may be of interest to one electoral sector, they may not be of interest to others, and may, therefore, be counterproductive for a politician's political success and survival. The main challenge is how to ensure these issues generate gains for those who promote them, rather than political losses. In this respect, three possible courses of action emerged for male politicians to ensure their support for gender equality issues secures them political gains:

- 1. achieve change by creating alliances
- 2. make incremental progress through partial negotiations
- 3. push these issues through political negotiation, despite the potential for backlash.

Further examination of these strategies and their relative efficacy could reveal the conditions under which male politicians can balance their support for social issues with their electoral objectives.

One additional obstacle that may deter further engagement with gender agendas is the perceived risks to political capital that can be associated with the differential value given to some of the topics included in such agendas. One man who has championed a few LGBTQI+ rights projects in Congress believes that such an agenda, for example, does not lead to any gains in political power because it tends to meet resistance from other politicians and the electorate:

It always adds up to a negative... I was constantly thinking about how my sexual orientation would or would not impact the electorate. How would the people who voted for me, because I was the representative of entrepreneurs and education, not be disappointed when they discovered that I was a diverse man and that they were going to take away my vote? So, undoubtedly, that generates affectations among the funders themselves. Male politician, centrist party



The perception among male politicians, therefore, is less of accumulated progress and more of uneven, unequal and circumstantial changes in the incorporation of gender agendas into political culture.

#### Facilitators for the engagement of male politicians with gender equality

Five key factors that facilitate male politicians' feminist work were identified:

- 1. The rise of a new generation of politicians.
- 2. Supportive political party ideologies.
- 3. The creation of alliances with civil social organisations and media.
- 4. The training and capacity of politicians' support teams.
- 5. The positioning of gender issues in public discussions.

As noted in the introduction, gender equality policies and significant changes in the politics of gender and sexuality in Colombia shape the context within which male politicians define and enact their own gender agendas. This history of reform is the main structural facilitator for the engagement of male politicians with gender equality, even if they do not recognise this explicitly. It was not possible for this research to establish a direct or cumulative relationship between this progress and the actions of male politicians. Indeed, while all recognise the importance of feminism and women's movements in bringing about change, male politicians seem unaware of their detailed and long history. Even so, the accumulated progress that has been made operates as a great enabler of change that cannot be ignored.

#### The rise of a new generation of politicians

Some of the gender equality proponents interviewed are just starting their political careers and are in their positions for the first time. Some do not even expect to continue because, for them, politics is just one moment in their professional careers. The fact that they are young professionals from urban settings and that they express some knowledge of feminist discussions, suggests a greater acknowledgment of gender discussions as part of the development of new political actors.

All participants mention explicitly the role of feminism in making gender politics a matter of public and political concern. The absorption of gender agendas by these new politicians can be seen as an impact of feminist mobilisations and of feminist politics. The visibility of a new generation of male politicians interested in gender politics or who are allies with feminist organisations contributes to create a sense of collective responsibility and commitment for gender change. As one of the male politicians interviewed said:

I think that if more young people arrive, regardless of their colour [political position] we will have legislative agendas in the Council, in the governments, public agendas that are much more inclusive and much broader in terms of guaranteeing rights and gender equality. I think that until that happens, it will be very difficult, because it will be the same people with mostly retrograde thoughts from 40 or 50 years ago who have been in the same place, who will not allow this change of generation and ideas to also occupy a space in politics. Male politician, centrist party

It should be noted that there are also men with a longer history in politics who support these agendas. Several well-known politicians in Colombia who were supportive at the beginning of the century were mentioned in the interviews, including those who promoted rights agendas, social justice agendas, or agendas for change in traditional politics. In contrast, a new generation of male politicians is also emerging in anti-gender politics (Moragas, 2020).

#### Supportive political party ideologies

Some political parties tend to be more in favour of gender policies than others. Gender issues tend to have a stronger presence in the agendas of parties on the left or centre-left, such as those related to the so-called green parties. While the analysis of party strategies is beyond the scope of this research, the male politicians interviewed did refer to the role of their parties as a key element in achieving progress on this issue. Five of them are from the Green Party, a political party that has an explicit gender mandate in its activities. In other words, explicit party support appears to be an enabler of commitment to the issue.

#### The creation of alliances with civil society and media

This political strategy relates to the type of alliances that are created to promote gender equality and the way in which this issue is positioned in public debates. Politicians who have supported gender equality initiatives affirm the importance of collective and concerted work with social organisations for success. Those who described positive actions on the issue pointed to alliances with social organisations, academia, the media and other politicians as facilitators of their work.

#### The training and capacity of politicians' support teams

Male politicians who hold representative positions in the legislature and the executive mentioned the expert knowledge and commitment of their support teams as a factor that facilitated their work on gender equality. It is these teams that design the initiatives and provide content to the politicians' actions and they play a key role in facilitating, supporting, and giving legitimacy and credibility to the work of male politicians. Some are constituted by professional women with academic expertise on the topic. Working with technical teams can, therefore, strengthen work with pro-feminist male politicians.

#### The positioning of gender issues in public discussions

Some of the politicians interviewed cited some cultural changes or transformations as facilitators, at least in terms of symbolic matters or in the greater presence of the gender agenda in broad social and political debates. The male politicians interviewed recognise that interest in gender equality is now on the public agenda in a way that it was not before, and this makes it more important to work on the issue. In a way, they are responding to a broader social, political and cultural change resulting from gender and feminist mobilisations that call on politicians to take a position. A combination of personal and politicians who opt to support gender equality and others who may be facing the same changes, but who resist or deny participating in them. This may be the result of recognising a significant change in politics, as one interviewee stated:

The political face of the 21st-century is that of a woman activist and fighter. It is as simple as that. And we should rather be opening up spaces for more women activists and fighters to reach these spaces. Male politician, centrist party

## Perceptions of male politicians' work on gender issues and the politicisation of masculinities

This section explores the participation of male politicians in gender agendas from the perspective of male and female university students and representatives of activist collectives who took part in focus group discussions.

The research questions about male politicians' involvement in gender or feminist agendas were discussed in terms of broader political topics and deeper questions about politics. The role of men in gender equality was perceived as being related to gender inequalities that are pervasive in society and to the limitations of democratic societies. In other words, participants focused less on whether male politicians can or should incorporate gender or feminist issues into their agendas, and more on the ways in which culture reproduces gender inequality; how political culture and political structures produce and reproduce male privileges (at the expense of women's rights); and how feminist and gender change agendas are being understood today in limited, contradictory and instrumentalised ways.

### A critical attitude of suspicion: from rejection to pragmatic acceptance

All students and activists viewed the engagement of male politicians with gender agendas with 'permanent suspicion' of the reasons for and the results of their commitment to feminism and gender equality. The fact that participants were unable to identify concrete actions for change or any accumulated tradition of commitment seems to support their perspective. This critical thinking was mentioned explicitly in their answers to the focus group questions and confirmed during the process of collective reflection. This mirrors an active and vigilant attitude, which suggests that participants are aware of the limitations of male politicians' commitment to gender politics. The varied intensity of these suspicions was expressed in four attitudes that are not mutually exclusive, but that are held in combination and with some intensity: rejection of appropriation; scepticism about male politicians' commitment to gender equality; pragmatic acceptance for the greater cause; and acknowledgement of the potential for transformation.

#### **Rejection of appropriation**

All six focus groups were highly critical of the adoption of gender agendas by male politicians. This attitude was held most extensively and included concerns about the following areas, in particular:

- the appropriation of feminist agendas without any knowledge of them for opportunistic or utilitarian ends
- the view that this might be rather 'hypocritical', particularly when it relates to politicians who have, at other times, voiced very different opinions (opposing abortion, for example)
- suspicion about whether men can really represent agendas that have no connection to their own life experience.

This perception among students is, therefore, a warning that they have concerns about false inclusion and false equity in politics, with women's issues sometimes used in campaigns and in strategic positions to gain power, and a failure to meet expectations. Participants gave examples of failed promises to justify why, in some cases, their first reaction to hearing male politicians talk about gender agendas is one of rejection.

#### Scepticism about male politicians' commitment to gender equality

A second group of reactions fluctuated between suspicion and surprise, for example, when acknowledging the gesture made in 2022 by the then presidential candidate, when he wore a scarf symbolising the right to the voluntary termination of pregnancy. While this was undoubtedly seen as 'different' to the normal behaviour of other male politicians, participants also acknowledged it was a campaign event. Questions were raised, therefore, about whether such actions are genuine or just opportunistic.

Scepticism arises from the view that, as gender equality is not really an agenda for these politicians, their support was more likely to be linked to political campaigning moments or circumstantial statements of support. One of the young women participants described this as 'forced empathy', with male politicians perhaps responding to speeches that are seen as politically correct, but with doubts about whether this is honest support. In the same sense, one of the LGBTQI+ activists, referring to the presidential candidate's act of wearing the scarf, said, 'perhaps the tacit act of the neckerchief is quite innovative, but for me in terms of symbolism, to empathise with the populations, it does seem to me that it is a bit old', meaning that this is an old strategy that has already been used by politicians. In a similar vein, one of the male participants in the focus group from the lower-middle-class university pointed out that while it is important for male politicians to express their commitment to gender equality, what matters is what they do once they are in power:

It feels more like a strategy to connect with feminists and women, but who knows if his personal style really coincides with what he shows. He can stay very much in the image and very much in the words, but not in his actions and how he behaves.

Focus group participant, male student

#### Pragmatic acceptance for the greater cause

A third perspective highlighted the pragmatism needed when responding to male politicians' engagement with gender equality. While acknowledging the existence of political opportunism, forming alliances and collaborative efforts can still be necessary and beneficial, even when motivations vary. Certain endorsements, even those that are temporary or situational (such as comments from a president), have an influence because of the speaker's prominence. As one female participant observed, 'these are things that help open doors'. Similarly, a LGBTQI+ activist noted that although men's involvement in these issues might sometimes seem 'invasive', it is valuable to have male supporters at the regional level who support these agendas with concrete data, evidence and logical arguments.

This perspective also applies to politicians who champion these causes by incorporating them into their party's platform or government programmes. This reflects the way in which affinity toward these issues differs across political sectors and across politicians' willingness to engage. This pragmatic approach may also intertwine opportunism with the strategic manoeuvring that is integral to power struggles. An important consideration that emerged in the focus groups was the specific identity of politicians expressing such commitments, as well as the political agendas they represented.

#### Acknowledgment of the potential for transformation

One perception that appeared less frequently was the view that there are changes in the way some politicians adopt these issues, particularly because it is not possible to avoid the subject in the current context. The image of the current Colombian president wearing the green scarf was pointed out in every focus group as a strong and novel gesture of change, and one that would have been unimaginable for previous presidents.

Such significant changes were associated with various initiatives, such as feminist struggles in the country and abroad, with initiatives such as #MeToo positioning the issues in such a way that some politicians have begun to respond or integrate gender issues into their agendas. Another reason for this possible change raised in the focus groups was generational changes and the emergence of some male politicians who are more sensitive to these issues, for personal, family, professional, or political career reasons. For example, a participant in the LGBTQI+ focus group pointed out that in youth activism, important changes are happening where young men are protagonists.

Participants acknowledge some openness to dialogue among this new generation of politicians, although the question remains about the coherence of male politicians. A woman in one of the focus groups agreed that men should play a role as allies of feminist causes and give visibility to women in their respective positions:

...more than just talking about the issue themselves, of course they can give their opinion and support it, it is about putting these discussions about women on the table and giving women a voice. Focus group participant, male student

### Mistrust of the patriarchal political establishment

This oscillation from profound scepticism to the recognition of the efforts of male politicians who embrace gender agendas can be explained, in part, by a broader mistrust in politics and in political institutions. A recent survey of 5,465 young people from across Colombia found that they value democracy and want to participate in democratic deliberations, but that less than 12% trust political institutions, falling to just 7% for political parties (El Tiempo, 2020).

The oscillation is also linked to how gender norms materialise in the public sphere and the participants' perception of the patriarchal nature of politics. Participants acknowledge that while there are commendable efforts by some male politicians to demonstrate a commitment to gender equality, the patriarchal elements of politics limit the possibilities that those men will transform that commitment into concrete support for feminist agendas and gender equitable politics.

Participants in the focus groups did not perceive any explicit difference between feminist politicians or male politicians who are committed to gender equality agendas, and other politicians. While they identified some shifts in attitudes, as discussed earlier, their general perception is that the relationship between politics and gender inequalities is so strong that the commitment of some male individual politicians has only a very limited impact.

The patriarchal practices highlighted by the participants included the double standards that are applied to women; 'paternalism' and 'infantilism'; and masculine characteristics, traits and behaviours.

#### Double standards applied to women

Both the groups of young women and men outlined examples of how politics acts with a logic that privileges male politicians and allows them to do a variety of things, yet censures or hampers women who wish to do the same. This double standard is found in the way women's work is valued. For example, even when women hold technical positions and positions of high political responsibility or power, they are not valued in the same way as men in the same roles. Participants also emphasise that women are required to do more work than men, or that they are judged in a negative way when they do something that male politicians do regularly. This double standard is even more problematic when it comes to gender topics. While some men may be praised for their support for gender agendas, some women are criticised for doing the same, as stated by women in the focus groups.
### 'Paternalism' and 'infantilism'

Participants in the focus groups raised problems that are illustrated by these two terms, which describe how men in politics deal with women and gender issues. They either assume a position of authority on the issue that they do not have (paternalism) or place women in subordinate positions (infantilism).

Focus group participants criticise male politicians in general for justifying their actions by making stereotypical, condescending or essentialist statements about women. They also criticise the reasons given by male politicians for supporting gender initiatives, such as valuing women in their family circle or emphasising their reproductive role. This patronising way of justifying their commitment is expressed, as mentioned by a group of young men, in a number of ways. These include the fact that female politicians tend to be called by their first name while male politicians are called by their surname, their treatment during political debates, and criticism of the way they dress or speak – criticism that is rarely aimed at male politicians.

### Masculine characteristics, traits and behaviours

The recognition that politics is a highly masculine and patriarchal space is linked to the previous two points, as well as the wider scepticism about politics and the motivations of male politicians who take up these issues. Even if there are women in politics, they are expected to stop 'being feminine' and become 'tougher' in order to be recognised. This issue was highlighted by both young women and men, by participants in the LGBTQI+ activist group, and by masculinities activists. This group mentioned that gender markers are so strong in the political exercise of power by men that they transcend their different political affiliations:

They share those markers of politics that cannot be erased, of traditional, authoritarian, non-dialogical masculinity. The presence of the male phallus is inevitable... it is a figure of authority and power, not conciliation... The men who do politics in this country, whether they dress in green, red or whatever, have these markers very much present in their way of doing politics. Focus group participant, men's collectives

The fact that politics remains 'masculine' is seen, for example, in the way male politicians express themselves, separate the personal from the public, or impose their agendas. The counterpart to this is that women are asked to adopt attitudes or styles of politics that are considered 'masculine'. One male student pointed out that:

For a woman to enter politics she has to adopt masculine behaviours. Focus group participant, male student

Another male student felt that the adoption of masculine characteristics by women in politics extends to discourse, body appearance, and the need to show a 'sense of authority, discourse and power'.

This is perceived as women assimilating themselves with, as one participant described it, the figure of:

... the caudillo, the politician who shouts, raises his arms, positions his ideas, and also puts forward this image of being a saviour. To be heard, she has to appeal to these symbols, to this aesthetic and this masculine performance. Focus group participant, men's collectives

The perception of participants of politics as a masculine space, even with the increasing presence of women, is particularly relevant for this study. However, this process is not exclusive to the political

# ALIGN

sphere, and has been observed by the focus group participants in their work and academic spheres. While it could be affirmed that these young people reproduce an idea that assumes that assertiveness and voice are more 'masculine' matters, they also pointed out that politics is a space with so much masculine control that the opportunities to integrate gender issues are very limited. This also applies to initiatives that attempt to broaden women's participation in politics, as reported by young men from the university from the lower-middle class strata.

The group contrasts initiatives for parity in women's political representation with the need to address the structural social challenge of the need to educate women from an early age to take on the social and political leadership roles so often occupied by men. If women face disproportionate care burdens, their opportunities for political office are limited, and they may end up supporting the rise of men in the political space. In other words, participants felt that the prevalence of male privilege in social structures limits the impact of initiatives that aim to increase women's participation in politics.

Even if there are men who adopt gender agendas, this does not imply that they change their own patriarchal or macho attitudes in politics, as one LGBTQI+ activist pointed out:

Do men in politics change because they talk about gender and diversities? No, they don't change, they continue to be macho, they continue to be patriarchal, they continue to be racist, classist, but let's say, they comply. They are going to do it in the exercise and in the function of their work as governors, so they are elected to respond to some stakeholders. Focus group participant, LGBTQI+ activist

In addition, the masculine condition of politics leads to a differentiated cultural valuation of gender initiatives because a woman who proposes an issue from a feminist stance tends to be perceived as obvious and is considered to be of lesser value. Meanwhile, the fact that male politicians address these issues is interpreted as progressive and gives them more relevance because of the position of power they represent, as the women in one group pointed out.

The current situation, then, is a certain 'short-circuit'. While gender issues are becoming increasingly important and cannot be avoided, politicians cannot or do not know how to react to them. As one male student mentioned:

The problem is that they don't know how. What I feel is that they are adopting flags, they are adopting rhetoric about them, but unlike other issues [in politics, this is an issue where they cannot take ownership, and this is an issue where they just say 'I have a mother, I have a sister'. So, I find it fascinating that they are doing it, but I feel that many of them are lost. Focus group participant, male student

# There are changes, but they are fragile

Participants also recognise that there are changes in gender politics, even if they are partial, incomplete or fragile. There are examples at the national level, such as the creation of the Ministry of Equality, which was a campaign promise of the current government, and previous laws or jurisprudence related to the LGBTQI+ community, such as anti-discrimination norms or the approval of equal marriage. Likewise, in the capital city, the various groups mentioned specific programmes, such as the *Casas de la Igualdad* – Equality Houses (spaces provided by local public administration for counselling and care for women victims of violence), and the *Manzanas del Cuidado* – Care Neighbourhoods (a public policy scheme that provides support and training programmes for women who are carers).

Participants do not, however, associate those changes with the work of male politicians. Instead, they credit the women who have broken into the political space, such as the current mayor of Bogotá, Claudia Lopez, and the long-term work of feminist and women's organisations. The group of male activists saw the current changes as the result of a broader change toward equity that is not limited only to gender, but also to the need to close the gaps in opportunities for diverse populations. Likewise, they recognise some actions for change, such as the creation of the Ministry of Equality, but they are not certain about its continuity. As one participant from the men's collectives focus group said:

I don't want to be pessimistic, but the problem is that those who come later and the references we have are practically the opposite. Focus group participant, men's collectives

The sense of hope that progress will be made, but also that no profound transformations have yet been made, is relevant for this report's understanding of how participants evaluate what is happening with the emergence of male politicians who express commitment to gender agendas. As one male student put it:

What is being done is just a warm water handkerchief: 'Yes, up with women', equality, equity. That's all very well, but the problem is that politicians won't allow it to happen, because there is nothing better than money and power, and politics provides both.

Focus group participant, male student

There is also a recognition that the growing emergence of feminist views on a variety of issues and in public debates is accompanied by a certain social and media vigilance that also effects what male politicians can or cannot do. As one male student stated:

The feminist movement has led to the fact that not just anything can be done, so to speak, in music, in cinema... If someone does something politically incorrect, they are finished in social networks. Focus group participant, male student

The same applies to the role of surveillance and monitoring that social movements can play because, ultimately, little change can take place if they do not exercise control. One LGBTQI+ activist pointed out:

And if the social movement is doing advocacy and if the social movement is making bets, then they really have to respond. Focus group participant, LGBTQI+ activist

It is also acknowledged that it is not always favourable, in an electoral sense, to support these agendas. The group of masculinities activists pointed out that male politicians who work for gender equality agendas face a high political risk:

This has political costs, and it is an art to know how to navigate in these waters because they are very dangerous. In some moments it works, it is very useful, it helps, it catapults you, but in others it can also sink you and condemn you.

Focus group participant, male activist

This analysis coincides with the views expressed by male politicians on how gender equality issues are given different values, causing diverse risks and gains for politicians.

## Differences in the perceptions of male politicians on gender agendas

The groups of young men, women and activists had different perspectives on the value of the engagement of male politicians in gender agendas. These varied valuations were based on a number of factors, including gendered differences, political positions, relationships with feminist and gender issues, regional differences, and different forms of activism.

### Gendered differences

Young women tended to place more emphasis on the importance of gender agendas as broad and core topic in politics than young men, who tended to see them as complementary to other dimensions of politics. Women also tended to be more sceptical than men about the participation of male politicians in gender agendas. For young women, gender agendas should be at the centre of politics, which is not how male politicians handle these issues, as they also tend to them as complementary or secondary. As a female student stated in one focus group:

Usually, men are more interested in the economic side, in issues like infrastructure. Their proposals and their speeches are more focused on development, on progress. Focus group participant, female student

Even if the interest of male politicians is honest, women stress that these politicians still embody and represent physical experiences that are different from those of women. The young women pointed out that seeing the President wearing the green scarf, while it may have demonstrated relevant support, appeared strange because he was wearing something that did not belong to him. They relate this to a certain masculine performativity in politics in which the relation with the body is more formal, almost rigid, and distant.

Young women stressed their different relationships with their bodies as political spaces. This issue of women's bodies as a space for political action was not raised by the groups of young men. It was young women who were most adamant that, while there have been some changes in gender orders, they feel little transformation in their lives. They also emphasised the need to recognise that feminist struggles should be at the core of gender politics and that their demands require an immediate response.

### **Political positions**

The political position of the participants also influences how they value the presence of men in gender agendas and their understanding of the way in which changes occur. In the opinion of young women from the lower-middle-class universities, for example, left-wing politicians who support these actions are more trustworthy than male politicians from right-wing parties who commit to gender agendas. As one female student said:

If you suddenly hear a politician who is conservative, who is more to the right, you feel a kind of scepticism – like this person is only doing it to please people, not because he really wants to bring about change. Focus group participant, female student

This finding may, however, be the result of the research participants' preference for more leftist political positions. Further research with broader samples should consider how to evaluate the perception of male politicians in gender agendas from more diverse political positions.

The group of young men from the lower-middle class university made their left-wing political position more evident and argued that leftist politicians tend to be more receptive to these issues than those on the right. From their perspective, right-wing parties have conservative positions or even taboos on gender issues, and a political agenda that is more focused on economic development and on 'white male' privilege than on gender justice. As a result, they feel that there are more possibilities for change from politicians on the left.

Young men also feel the role of social movements and public opinion was more important than the role of politicians in driving change. They recognise, therefore, that the equality agenda for women and for other social groups such as the LGBTQI+ populations or the black or Indigenous communities has been gaining ground because of the social mobilisation of traditionally excluded sectors. This has generated changes that are not the result of actions by male politicians.

### Relationships with feminist and gender issues

Not all participants identified themselves as feminists or indicated that they knew about or were even close to feminism. However, those who were closer to feminism had a more critical attitude toward men's participation in these agendas.

Young women and men who did not identify themselves as feminists, or who had less knowledge of the subject, expressed a more pragmatic attitude toward the presence of men. Yet, they also point out that because feminisms are diverse, there may be different ways of relating to male politicians who embrace gender equality issues. This is relevant to the identification of how these young women and men reflect on the broader debates that are taking place in feminism and gender struggles.

In the same sense of differences between agendas, LGBTQI+ activists expressed less recognition or positioning of their agendas at the regional level on certain women's and gender issues, such as sexual- or gender-based violence. This is partly the result, as the same group reflected, of the only limited and marginal collaboration between LGBTQI+ and women's mobilisations.

### **Regional differences**

Participants pointed out that debates on gender, feminisms, or masculinities tend to be very urban and are relevant only for certain social sectors. They argued that what happens in terms of political progress on gender equality in the main central cities of the country, such as Bogotá, Medellin or Cali, is very different to what happens in small cities or in rural areas. This division was pointed out by focus groups participants from smaller cities but was also confirmed by others as a common issue for the prospects of changes in gender politics or for different action by male politicians. For them, politics as it is practiced in non-urban areas or small cities is very different from central and urban politics.

Participants gave examples of how gender issues, if they gain attention in local and regional politics, tend to be resolved with forms of politics that are still strongly patriarchal and that maintain male privilege. One young woman from a university reported that in her small home city, close to Bogotá, even if there are male politicians who talk about gender equality, their spouses still take the traditional roles of supportive wives and 'first ladies'.

One of the LGBTQI+ activists from another small city pointed out that, although the image of the President supporting feminist struggles was known in his city, debates about feminism, gender equality or men in gender politics are far from being raised openly or publicly. He mentioned that 'populist' speeches are more prevalent in his city and that they may well use discriminatory or sexist speech to win votes without encountering much opposition among citizens. Another participant



pointed out that politicians in his region tend to make agreements behind closed doors to gain votes that the public do not know about. Ironically, there may even be politicians who support gender issues or make agreements with women's groups, but would not say so publicly because of the potential political cost.

Different security conditions across regions also shape perceptions of the gender equality agenda. A LGBTQI+ activist working in an isolated region of Colombia badly affected by the conflict emphasised how addressing these issues can lead to someone being labelled as a 'revolutionary' and face security risks:

Unfortunately, here politics is conducted with a rosary in the left hand and the Bible in the right hand. Now, almost all political candidates are right-wing who are seeking precisely the reduction or total annihilation of the rights of women and LGBTQI+ populations. So, the reading that we can make of these spaces is that someone who wants to make this type of demonstration is seen as a revolutionary. They are seen with all those pejorative synonyms that we can find on the left.

Focus group participant, LGBTQI+ activist

Participants were clear in warning of the risks faced by male politicians who intend to commit to gender action, particularly in contexts highly affected by the struggles between guerrillas and state armies or paramilitaries. Here, being associated with 'revolutionary' agendas is a stigma that can put some people at risk.

### **Differences in activism**

Participation in activism is also a factor that may differentiate the way in which participants value the role of male politicians in gender agendas. Participants who had more experience of activism, whether on masculinities, feminism or LGBTQI+ rights, offered a more sophisticated analysis of the limits, strategies, duties and possibilities faced by male politicians. Activists on masculinities, for example, offered a deeper, more long-term and critical look at the actions of male politicians and their level of commitment to equity and equality. However, they shared with the groups of LGBTQI+ activists a critique on the limits of the discourses on gender, equality and equity.

# Summary of findings

This research has examined how male politicians in Colombia who have expressed commitment to gender equality agendas negotiate gender norms and advance political change, and how they are perceived by young people and activists. The findings show that these male politicians constitute a heterogenous group with a variety of agendas, understandings and strategies to realise their commitment. They build on a long tradition of legal and political changes that have been the result of women's activism and from which they pick and choose and connect some of their interests.

In terms of the relationship between male politicians who are supportive of gender equality and gender agendas, the research reveals three types of allyship, all marked by their limited impact:

- 1. temporary and strategic support to gender equality initiatives that are presented by other politicians (mostly women)
- 2. the development of their own initiatives, mostly in response to their constituencies and to commitments made during their political campaigns
- 3. their work to incorporate gender agendas into other social transformation agendas for which they work, for example when occupying executive positions.

The allyship of male politicians with gender equality agendas is the result of three factors:

- 1. the politicisation of their experience of gender inequalities through learning, participation and dialogue with feminist collectives, other more experienced politicians and social movements pushing for social justice
- 2. the effectiveness of the strategies they use to negotiate their interests in gender equality within their own parties and during the times when they exercise some political power
- 3. their interactions with the broader context in which they locate their initiatives.

These factors often have different rhythms, which makes the results of male politicians' commitment uneven and temporary, and limits its results. When describing their positions, some of the committed male politicians said that they might be in politics for only a short time, making their contribution limited and time-bound. Meanwhile, the agendas with which they interact have been active for longer periods and require long-term resources, commitment and political will.

Various elements of political culture and structures shape the possibilities for men in politics who want to spark change in gender norms. At the structural level, these include the pervasive gender gap that maintains politics as a male space and the limited implementation of legal changes intended to achieve gender equality. At the level of political culture, there is still a limited understanding of equity, equality and the need for a strategic commitment, with gender agendas based on a balance between possible political benefits and pitfalls. In other words, the logic of today's politics in Colombia creates a cement ceiling that limits the kind and the amount of commitment these male politicians can exercise.

Within this structural and cultural context, male politicians are cautious in identifying themselves as feminists. Most of those interviewed described themselves as allies or supporters, which gives them the freedom to focus on their own political action and is a retractable, if more strategic, position.

Allyship itself has a variety of meanings. It is sometimes defined as an acceptance of a moral duty to contribute to gender equality: the recognition of a position that cannot substitute for or compete with the role of women. It is also a strategic position that is halfway between a favourable attitude to



gender norm change and the fulfilment of their duty as democratically elected representatives who must comply with their voters' preferences.

Being an ally can be explained as a position that facilitates the transactional logic that characterises politics. The question remains whether feminism is truly an aspiration in politics that these men wish to embody and work towards, or if gender equality is a more comfortable position for them because it falls under the general political umbrella of equity and social justice. The allyship positioning of male politicians also perpetuates the view of gender, women's political claims and feminism as 'otherness', because rather than questioning the gender binary, they maintain it as a taxonomy.

When male politicians express their allyship, it remains unclear what dimension of feminist struggles they support, or with which kind of feminism they empathise. Their positioning is not embedded in or linked to feminisms that are more radical. Instead, they follow a hierarchy of differences in gender issues in which issues such as equal access are more acceptable than, for example, the struggle for reproductive rights. This reluctance to move beyond the more acceptable topics is expressed in their own terms as a way to avoid appropriating feminist agendas. It can also be the result of backlashes and anti-gender or anti-feminist attitudes, with male politicians avoiding an explicit commitment because feminism is seen as a kind of stigma for their political agendas.

Nevertheless, the research has identified some favourable elements for the gender equality agenda, including generational changes that have seen the emergence of a more diverse set of male (and female) politicians, alliances between male politicians and social organisations, the incremental and progressive nature of law reforms, and the increasing development of technical support teams equipped with new knowledge to support political arguments in deliberative processes.

These important (though limited) changes have not, however, had an impact on a general suspicion and scepticism about male politicians and political parties, as illustrated in the focus groups. The focus group participants, while exhibiting differences in terms of gender, territorial affiliation, political position, proximity to feminisms, and roles as activists, reflected critically on the role of male politicians in gender equality agendas. Their reflections were characterised by a permanent attitude of suspicion, with varying degrees of intensity, ranging from complete rejection and scepticism to pragmatism and recognition.

It is also important to understand the context in which male politicians who support gender equality agendas in Colombia must operate, which is one of permanent suspicions of politicians and political parties and the increasing political relevance of anti-gender movements. These movements have been organising and acting for decades across Latin America to oppose women's rights and progress on gender relations (Corrêa, 2018). The growing presence of anti-gender discourses, in which anti-feminism is a core topic, affect the way in which politicians strategise their political agendas. Even if the male politicians interviewed for this research do not fall within such an ideological and political perspective, further research needs to explore how anti-gender rhetoric is acting as a vigilant point of reference to undermine or reverse progress towards gender equality and the transformation of gender norms.

# Implications for policy, practice and research

Before discussing the implications of this report, it is important to recall the structural dimension of gender inequalities in Colombia and the multiple legal commitments signed by successive governments. Lasting progress requires concrete, sustainable, and well-funded long-term plans to transform structural gender inequalities. In addition, the rich landscape of legal measures intended to close the gender gap requires the implementation of policies and programmes that are well designed, enacted and evaluated. These initiatives need to be seen as state policies, not just temporary government policies, as demanded for years by women and feminist organisations.

The research findings suggest that increasing the contribution of male politicians to feminist or gender equality agendas is not only a matter of adding more male politicians to the cause or increasing the number of allies. It is also about the kind of allyship that is needed, when and for what purposes.

The interviews with male politicians and the discussions within the focus group suggest that expressing interest or allyship is not enough if it not backed by clear and sustained action based on alliances with social organisations. The priority is to identify which actions, at which moments, and for which initiatives male politicians should take, not only to overcome the suspicions about their action, but also to maximise their impact for gender justice and social justice agendas. This report propose 10 recommendations grouped into two areas of action: the capacity building of male politicians and their technical teams, and civic education and civil society engagement.

# Capacity building of male politicians and their technical teams

While some male politicians are interested in supporting these initiatives and incorporating them into their agendas, they do not always have the knowledge, strategies and mechanisms to make their actions more sustainable and permanent. They may not know how to connect, associate or differentiate the various gender and other social justice agendas. The following initiatives could be considered:

- 1. Provide tailored gender agenda training for male politicians interested in supporting such agendas. According to the interviewees, male politicians require training on a variety of issues related to gender, masculinities and politics, such as the design, implementation and evaluation of gender policies, the commitment required from politicians and policy makers, and their responsibility for changing gender relations. The Colombian government's long-term tradition of signing agreements that commit the country to international standards of gender equality does not seem to have had a concrete impact on the actions of male politicians in general, including those who are interested in gender equality. It is important, therefore, to recognise that diverse types of training is needed, geared towards strengthening the capacity of male politicians to advocate on these issues.
- 2. Enhance gender-savvy technical teams of male politicians. Several of the male politicians interviewed noted the importance of their technical teams for the development of their gender initiatives. These teams are made up of technical professionals with expertise on a range of issues, including gender. While these teams were not the subject of this research, it did identify the significant presence of women within these teams. The teams not only play a technical role in identifying evidence to support initiatives, but also interact with other policy teams, and can be key actors in the development of more sustained initiatives. Working with these teams may help to create stronger and better supported agendas and facilitate lobbying strategies

# ALiGN

for political projects. Support for these teams could also enhance their ongoing work on policy and law making. They have constant communication with their peers, offering opportunities to reach other politicians who may not have an explicit or open commitment to gender agendas. They also have a key role in creating alliances with civil society organisations, with media and with academia.

- 3. Build collaborative peer education in political circles. Both male and female politicians describe experiences where working with male peers played a significant role in facilitating support and alliances. Being able to draw on the experiences of other male peers is useful to motivate political change, particularly when there is no explicit or organised opposition to the issues, but rather a lack of information and knowledge, or incorrect perceptions of what the initiatives aim to achieve. This can also be relevant for building trust and alliances among politicians, getting to know the language of political action, and exchanging experiences.
- 4. Support the crafting of sustained gender issues agendas for male politicians. Male (pro-) feminist politicians tend to act in a sporadic, isolated or circumstantial manner, which limits the continuity or escalation of their actions. The creation of long-term agendas can involve politicians from broad sectors, with the aim of accumulating actions and initiatives. It also implies knowing how to identify when and in what way it is possible to position certain issues.
- 5. Learn from the past by systematising effective gender strategies. There are already both positive and negative experiences of male politicians' involvement in gender agendas. However, they have not been documented sufficiently or used as a basis for the development of action strategies. Male politicians know little about the policies and strategies that have been developed over time on this issue, and their use of these cases as the basis for strategy development is critical.

# Civic education and civil society engagement

The involvement of male politicians in addressing gender issues must be contextualised within broader social norms, people's understanding of gender-related concerns, and the formation of public demand for politicians' sustained and concrete action. The key challenge is to avoid the promotion of unnecessary or counter-productive male protagonism while fostering a widespread social dialogue that acknowledges and honours decades of efforts by women. These actions can take the following form:

- 6. Elevate the role of male politicians in gender progress through the power of data and accountability. In political discussions, it is vital to provide statistical information and empirical data on why change matters for law, equity and equality. The actions of male politicians on gender equality need to be enhanced with relevant data on gender issues in general, and with specific information on why these are key topics for their agendas. Male politicians interested in these topics can have a more visible presence if they include gender perspectives across the variety of topics in which they are involved, and if they can provide evidence-based, updated, academic and strategic knowledge. They can also use such knowledge as an accountability tool to oversee policy making.
- 7. Set up a sustained dialogue on gender and masculinities between men in politics and the public. A lasting impact on the political agenda requires not only sporadic statements about men's participation in gender politics, but also sustained and persistent initiatives over a long period of time. This implies learning from the way women's organisations have made their issues public, but also developing other initiatives specific to men's issues and masculinities. For male politicians to develop greater commitment to gender policies, this must also become a demand from their constituents.

- 8. **Mobilise media advocacy to catalyse discourse in the public and the media.** As one of the male politicians interviewed stated, 'the media can activate conversation campaigns about what these discussions entail and completely demystify everything that is around it' (Male, centrist party politician). The media, public opinion programmes or spaces for public debate play a crucial role in opening discussions on gender in which male politicians, as public figures, can help to shape public opinion.
- 9. Build capacity to work with allies. The political agenda for gender equality requires not only the involvement of various political actors, but also the support and backing of many sectors of civil society. However, not all alliances have the same weight or impact, and not all actors in the same sector act in the same way. In the experience of those who have promoted gender equality initiatives, working with various political parties is fundamental to the achievement of change, even those that are undecided or that express reservations. This implies the need to know how to create these alliances, with what agreements and for how long, and embed a perspective that goes beyond opportunistic or ephemeral alliances.
- 10. **Support engagement with civil society and advocacy organisations.** Colombia has a long history of activism on promoting change in masculinities. However, male politicians in elected office do not always interact with these activisms to build on their accumulated work and expertise. Collaboration between male politicians and civil society can be strengthened and dialogue facilitated, so that the politicians can support their interests with the accumulated work and knowledge of activists on men and masculinities and ensure that this activism has the desired political impact. Politicians can also learn from and engage with citizen oversight initiatives on gender issues and improve their commitment with permanent and public accountability on their responsibilities in relation to gender equality. This is more relevant than ever in a context in which social movements are making increasing use of social media and communication to express their grievances and demand change.

# References

- Aguayo, F. and Nascimento, M. (2016) 'Dos décadas de Estudios de Hombres y Masculinidades en América Latina: avances y desafíos' *Sexualidad, salud y sociedad* (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil), 22, 207–220 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1984-6487.sess.2016.22.09.a</u>).
- Aguayo, F. and Sadler, M. (2011) 'El papel de los hombres en la equidad de género: ¿qué masculinidades estamos construyendo en las políticas públicas en Chile?' in Aguayo, F. and Sadler, M. (eds), Masculinidades y Políticas Públicas: Involucrando Hombres en la Equidad de Género, pp. 105-126. Santiago, Chile: Universidad de Chile.
- Aguayo, F. and Sadler, M. (eds) (2011) Masculinidades y políticas publicas: involucrando hombres en la equidad de género. Santiago, Chile: Universidad de Chile.
- Albaine, L. (2015) Obstáculos y desafíos de la paridad de género. Violencia política, sistema electoral e interculturalidad, Quito: La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales (FLACSO-Ecuador), 19(2), 145.
- Albelda, J.S. (2011) 'Las nuevas masculinidades. Los hombres frente al cambio en las mujeres' *Prisma social*, (7), 220-247.
- Amuchastegui, A. (2006) '¿Masculinidad(es)?: los riesgos de una categoría en construcción' in Careaga, G. and Cruz Sierra, S. (eds) Debates sobre Masculinidades. Poder, Desarrollo, Políticas Públicas y Ciudadanía, pp. 159-181. Mexico City: Programa Universitario de Estudios de Gènero, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.
- Andrade Molinares, M. (2018) Patriarcado y construcción social de la feminidad en la novela El amor en los tiempos del cólera. Cali: Universidad del Valle.
- Andrés Rivera, C.A. and Escobar, M.R. (2018) 'Masculinidades guerreristas: subjetividades en el posconflicto' Nómadas (48), pp. 263-266. Bogotá (<u>https://doi.org/10.30578/nomadas.n48a17</u>).
- Arguedas Ramirez, G. (2020) Políticas antigénero en América Latina "ideología de género", lo "postsecular", el fundamentalismo neopentecostal y el neointegrismo católico: La vocación anti-democrática. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Sexuality Policy Watch.
- Baird, A. (2018) 'Convertirse en el más malo: trayectorias masculinas de violencia en las pandillas de Medellín' Revista Estudios socio-jurídicos, 20(2), pp. 9-48 (<u>https://doi.org/10.12804/revistas.urosario.</u> <u>edu.co/sociojuridicos/a.6817</u>).
- Beltrán, W.M. and Creely, S. (2022) 'Pentecostales, ideología de género y plebiscito por la paz. Colombia 2016 Revista Colombiana de Sociología 45(1), pp. 481-511 (<u>https://doi.org/10.15446/rcs.v45n1.100119</u>).
- Bernal, A., Calderón, K.D., Gómez, P.A., et al. (2022) 'El trasfondo de una política pública de género en Colombia: Análisis crítico de 'Mujeres Constructoras de Paz y Desarrollo' 2002-2010' Estudios de derecho, 79(173), pp. 191-216. Medellín, Colombia (<u>https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.esde.v79n173a08</u>).
- Borba, R. (2021) 'Disgusting politics: circuits of affects and the making of Bolsonaro' Social semiotics, 31(5), pp. 677-694 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330.2020.1810554</u>).
- Browne, A., Bennouna, C., Asghar, K., et al. (2021) 'Risk and Refuge: Adolescent Boys' Experiences of Violence in 'Post-Conflict' in Colombia' *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 36(19-20), pp. 9393-9415 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519867150</u>).
- Campbell, E. (2006) 'El ejercicio del poder en el parlamento costarricense. Política tradicional y masculinidad' in Careaga, G. and Cruz Sierra, S. (eds) *Debates sobre masculinidades. Poder, desarrollo, políticas públicas y ciudadanía*, pp. 393-401. Mexico City: Programa Universitario de Estudios de Gènero, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.
- Careaga, G. and Cruz Sierra, S. (2006) 'Introducción' in Careaga, G. and Cruz Sierra, S. (eds), Debates sobre masculinidades. Poder, desarrollo, políticas públicas y ciudadanía, pp. 9-28. Mexico City: Programa Universitario de Estudios de Gènero, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.

- **Connell, R. (1987)** Gender and power: society, the person and sexual politics. Standford, CA: Stanford University Press (<u>https://www.sup.org/books/title/?id=2532</u>).
- Connell, R. (2005) *Masculinities* (2nd ed.). Berkley, LA: University of California Press (<u>https://lulfmi.lv/</u> files/2020/Connell\_Masculinities.pdf).
- Corrêa, S. (2018) 'A 'política do gênero': um comentário genealógico *Cadernos Pagu* (53), pp. 1-16 (https://doi.org/10.1590/18094449201800530001).
- Crespo, M.a.V. (2015) Del rey al presidente: poder Ejecutivo, formación del Estado y soberanía en la Hispanoamérica revolucionaria, 1810-1826 (1st ed.). Mexico City: El Colegio de México, Centro de Estudios Históricos.
- DANE, ONU Mujeres, CPEM (2022) Mujeres y hombres. Brechas de género en Colombia. Segunda Edición. Bogotá: Departamento Administrativo Nacional De Estadística, ONU Mujeres, Consejería Presidencial para la Equidad de la Mujer.
- DANE (2023) *Mercado laboral de la población LGBT*. 11 July. Bogotá: Departamento Administrativo Nacional De Estadística (<u>www.dane.gov.co/index.php/estadisticas-por-tema/mercado-laboral/mercado-laboral-</u> <u>de-la-poblacion-lgbt#:~:text=Durante%20el%20a%C3%B1o%20m%C3%B3vil%20junio,de%20edad%20</u> <u>en%20el%20pa%C3%ADs</u>).
- Dietrich Ortega, L.M. (2012) 'Looking Beyond Violent Militarized Masculinities: Guerrilla gender regimes in Latin America International' *Feminist journal of politics*, 14(4), pp. 489-507 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616</u> <u>742.2012.726094</u>).
- DNP (2018) Bases del Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2018 2022. Pacto Por Colombia, Pacto Por La Equidad. Bogotá: Departamento Nacional de Planeación.
- DNP (2022) Bases del Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2022 2026. Colombia potencia mundial de la vida. Bogotá: Departamento Nacional de Planeación.
- EFE (2022) 'Análisis: El "Lawfare", las elecciones colombianas y nuestra Audiencia Nacional' *El Espectador*, 6 June (www.elespectador.com/politica/elecciones-colombia-2022/analisis-el-lawfare-las-eleccionescolombianas-y-nuestra-audiencia-nacional).
- Encarnacion, O.G. (2017) 'The Patriarchy's Revenge: How Retro-Macho Politics Doomed Dilma Rousseff' World Policy Journal, 34(1), 82-91 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1215/07402775-3903724</u>).
- Essayag, S. (2018) Informe de investigación. Experiencias promisorias de masculinidades no violentas y corresponsables en el ámbito de los cuidados en Colombia y otros países de América Latina y el Caribe. Bogotá: ONU Mujeres.
- Figueroa, J.G. (2011) Algunas reflexiones sobre el estudio de los varones desde el feminismo y desde los derechos humanos. Barcelona: Congreso Iberoamericano de Masculinidades y Equidad.
- Flisi, I. (2016)'The reintegration of former combatants in Colombia: addressing violent masculinities in a fragile context' *Gender and development*, 24(3), pp. 391-407.
- Flood, M. (2009) 'Frequently asked questions about pro-feminist men and pro-feminist men's politics, XY. Men, masculinities and gender politics (<u>https://xyonline.net/content/frequently-asked-questions-about-pro-feminist-men-and-pro-feminist-mens-politics</u>).
- Fuller, N. (1998) 'Reflexiones sobre el machismo en América Latina' in Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (eds), Masculinidades y equidad de género en América Latina, pp. 258-266. Santiago: La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales and United Nations Population Fund.
- García, C.I. and Gómez, F.H. (2003) 'La masculinidad como campo de Estudio y de Acción social' Entre los límites y las rupturas (3), pp. 57-69. Medellín: Universidad de Antioquia.
- García, C.I. and Hernández, L.A. (2022) Escuela mujeres y hombres construyendo equidad para superar el machismo. Guía pedagógica de la Escuela Nacional de Desaprendizaje del Machismo Endema. Bogotá: Presidencia de la República & Universidad EAN.
- Gómez, F.H.; Bernal, M. and García, C.I. (2001) Masculinidades, relaciones de género y violencia intrafamiliar vol. 5. Bogotá: Política Haz Paz, Presidencia de la República, 2001.

# ALIGN

- González, F.E. (1982) Caudillismo y regionalismo en el siglo XIX Latinoamericano. Bogotá: Centro de Investigación y Educación Popular.
- Gutmann, M. (1996) The meanings of macho: being a man in Mexico City (vol. 3.). Berkeley CA: University of California Press.
- Gutmann, M. (1998) 'El machismo' in Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (eds) Masculinidades y equidad de género en América Latina, pp. 238-257. La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales and United Nations Population Fund.
- Keijzer, B.d. (2011) 'Prologo' in Aguayo, F. and Sadler, M. (eds), Masculinidades y politicas publicas: involucrando hombres en la equidad de genero, pp. 11-21. Santiago: Universidad de Chile.
- La Furcia, A. (2013) ¿Y entonces... Qué más, "hombres"? Estudios sobre masculinidades en Colombia: una lectura en clave feminista. Cali: Universidad del Valle (<u>https://bibliotecadigital.univalle.edu.co/handle/10893/7151</u>).
- Laclau, E. (1996) Emancipation(s). London: Verso.
- Lancaster, R. (1992) Life is hard: machismo, danger, and the intimacy of power in Nicaragua. Berkeley CA: University of California Press.
- Losada, C. (2022) 'Transmasculinidades, antimilitarismo y objeción de conciencia' in Ovalle, J., Losada, C. and Rodriguez, A. (eds) *Cuestionando el militarismo y la masculinidad hegemónica*. *Claves para su comprensión/eliminación*, pp. 38-59. London: Internacional de Resistentes a la Guerra.
- Lozoya, J.A. (2016) 'Privilegios masculinos'. (<u>www.emakunde.euskadi.eus/contenidos/informacion/</u> gizonduz\_dokumentuak/es\_def/adjuntos/2016.03.18.privilegios.masculinos.pdf).
- Madrid, S., Valdés, T. and Celedón, R. (2020) 'Introducción: Veinte años de estudios y políticas sobre hombres y masculinidades' in Madrid, S., Valdés, T. and Celedón, R. (eds), *Masculinidades en América Latina. Veinte años de estudios y políticas para la igualdad de género*, pp. 11 - 32. Santiago: Universidad Academia de Humanismo Cristiano.
- Martini, N.M. (2002) 'Masculinidades: un concepto en construcción' Nueva antropología, 18(61).
- McEwen, H. and Narayanaswamy, L. (2023) The International Anti-Gender Movement. Understanding the Rise of Anti-Gender Discourses in the Context of Development, Human Rights and Social Protection. Paris: The United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD) <u>subm-colonialism-sexualorientation-un-ios-unrisd-input-2.pdf (ohchr.org).</u>
- Menjívar Ochoa, M. (2012) ¿Hacia masculinidades transfugas?: políticas públicas y experiencias de trabajo sobre masculinidad en Iberoamérica. San José, Costa Rica: La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales.
- Messerschmidt, J.W. (2010) Hegemonic masculinities and camouflaged politics: unmasking the Bush dynasty and its war against Iraq. Paradigm Publishers.
- Messner, M.A. (2016) 'Forks in the Road of Men's Gender Politics: Men's Rights vs Feminist Allies' International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy, 5(2), pp. 6–20 (<u>https://doi.org/10.5204/ijcjsd.v5i2.301</u>).
- Michalko, J. et al. (2024, forthcoming) 'Men in politics as agents of gender equitable change: London: ODI.
- Moragas, M. (2020) Políticas antigénero en américa latina: El caso de la Organización de los Estados Americanos (OEA). Bahia: Sexuality Policy Watch.
- Nash, M. (2021) 'Male allyship in institutional STEMM gender equity initiatives' *Plos One*, 16(3). Doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0248373</u>.
- Neira Cruz, A. and Castillo Olarte, A.T. (2021) 'Hombres de verdad: urdimbres y contrastes entre masculinidades paramilitares y farianas' *Nómadas* (53), pp. 129-139. Bogotá (<u>https://doi.org/10.30578/</u> <u>nomadas.n53a7</u>).
- Ovalle, J., Losada, C. and Rodríguez, A. (2022) Cuestionando el militarismo y la masculinidad hegemónica. Claves para su comprensión/eliminación. London: Internacional de Resistentes a la Guerra.

- Parmanand, S. (2022) 'Macho populists versus COVID: Comparing political masculinities' European journal of women's studies, 29(1\_suppl), 43S-59S (https://doi.org/10.1177/13505068221092871).
- Poveda, J.C. (2019) 'Imagen militar, capitales en juego y tanatopolitica: la serie televisiva del Ejército de Colombia Hombres de Honor' Universitas humanística (88) (<u>https://doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.uh88.imcj</u>).
- Radi, B. (2019) 'Políticas del conocimiento: hacia una epistemología trans<sup>\*</sup>' in López, M. (ed.) *En los mil pequeños sexos. Intervenciones críticas sobre políticas de género y sexualidades, pp. 27-42. Buenos Aires:* Eduntref.
- Romo, D.M. (2008) 'Mujeres y política en América Latina. Sistemas electorales y cuotas de género' América Latina hoy, 50, 164.
- Ruiz Tena, C. (2022) 'Las invisibles: las jóvenes y la representación política parlamentaria' *Elecciones*, 20(21), pp. 131-160 (<u>https://doi.org/10.53557/Elecciones.2021.v20n21.06</u>).
- Schöngut Grollmus, N. (2012) 'La construcción social de la masculinidad: poder, hegemonía y violencia' Psicologia, Conocimiento y Sociedad 2 (2), 27-65 (noviembre, 2012) (https://revista.psico.edu.uy/index. php/revpsicologia/article/viewFile/119/73).
- Sequeira, J. (1998) 'El grupo de hombres contra la violencia de Nicaragua' in Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (eds), *Masculinidades y equidad de género en América Latina*, pp. 137-143. Santiago: La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales and United Nations Population Fund.
- Serrano Amaya, J.F. (2011) 'Challenging or Reshaping Heteronormativity with Public Policies? A Case Study from Bogotá, Colombia' in *Working Papers* (Vol. 2011). Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies.
- Serrano Amaya, J.F. (2017) 'La tormenta perfecta: Ideología de género y articulación de públicos' Sexualidad, Salud y Sociedad (Rio de Janeiro), pp. 149-171 (<u>www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci</u> arttext&pid=S1984-64872017000300149&nrm=iso).
- Serrano, J.F. (2021) 'Políticas antigénero en América Latina: una mirada panorámica' in Correa, S. (ed.), Políticas antigênero na América Latina: resumos dos estudos de casos nacionais, pp. 21-43). Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Associação Brasileira Interdisciplinar de Aids.
- Serrano, J.F. and Vidal, S. (2015) 'Masculinities, 'pro-feminism' and feminism in Latin America' in Baksh, R. and Harcourt, W. (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Transnational Feminist Movements*, pp. 321-340. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Sperling, V. (2015) Sex, politics, and Putin: political legitimacy in Russia. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Stephens, J.C. (2020) Diversifying power: why we need antiracist, feminist leadership on climate and energy. Washington DC: Island Press.
- Taller Abierto (n.d.) Experiencia de Trabajo en Promoción de Masculinidades Alternativas. (<u>https://tallerabierto.org/masculinidades\_alternativas/</u>).
- Theidon, K. (2009) 'Reconstructing Masculinities: The Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration of Former Combatants in Colombia' *Human rights quarterly*, 31(1), pp. 1–34 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1353/hrq.0.0053</u>).
- UNESCO (2022) 'Glossary: understanding concepts around gender equality and inclusion in education, tool 1'. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- UARIV (2024) Boletín 11 Datos para la Paz Corte Enero 2024. Bogotá: Unidad para la Atención y Reparación Integral a las Víctimas (https://datospaz.unidadvictimas.gov.co/archivos/datosPaz/boletines/BDPP\_ RP11.pdf).
- Valdés, X. (2009) El lugar que habita el padre en Chile contemporáneo: Estudio de las representaciones sobre la paternidad en distintos grupos sociales, 8(23), pp. 385–410. Santiago: Polis.
- Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (1997a) 'Introducción' in Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (eds) Masculinidad/es. Poder y Crisis, pp. 9-15. Santiago: Isis Internacional.
- Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (eds.) (1997b) Masculinidad/es. Poder y Crisis. Santiago: Isis Internacional.

# ALIGN

- Valdés, T. and Olavarría, J. (Eds.) (1998) Masculinidades y equidad de género en América Latina.Santiago: La Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales and United Nations Population Fund.
- Valente, R. and Borba, J. (2023) 'Tropical Trump, or a very Brazilian tale? Social class resentment as a moderating factor between anti-PT sentiment and the vote for Jair Bolsonaro in 2018' Opinião pública, 29(1), 24-41. Cesop (<u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-0191202329124</u>).
- Viveros, M. (2007) 'Teorías feministas y estudios sobre varones y masculinidades. Dilemas y desafíos recientes La Manzana de la Discordia, 2(4), pp. 25-36.
- Viveros, M. (2013) 'Género, raza y nación. Los réditos políticos de la masculinidad blanca en Colombia Maguaré, 27(1), pp. 71–104. (https://revistas.unal.edu.co/index.php/maguare/article/view/43144).
- Provincia de Buenos Aires (2023) Cisexismo, información epidemiológica y salud. Aportes para el debate sobre los usos de la variable "identidad de género" en los registros de salud. Buenos Aires: Ministerio de las Mujeres, Políticas de Género y Diversidad Sexual, Ministerio de Salud, Goberno de la Provincia de Buenos Aires.
- Waylen, G., Celis, K., Kantola, J., et al. (2013) *The Oxford Handbook of Gender and Politics*. Oxford UK: Oxford University Press.
- Wills Obregón, M.E. and Cardozo Garcia, F. (2010) 'Colombian political parties and women's representation (1990-2006). A deep or a shallow commitment?' *Colombia Internacional* 71/2010.
- Wolfman, G. (2023) 'Intentions, structures and intersections: theorizing complicit masculinities and political masculinities' in *European Journal of Politics and Gender*, vol. XX, No. XX, pp. 1–17 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1332</u>/25151088Y2023D00000002).

World Economic Forum (2022). Global Gender Gap Report 2022. Geneva: World Economic Forum

# Annexes

# Annex 1: Gender equality norms and public policies in Colombia

Instrument	Description	lssued by	Year
Decree 2820	It gives equal rights and obligations to women and men.	Presidency of the Republic	1974
Law 051	It ratifies the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women - CEDAW for Colombia.	Congress of the Republic	1981
Political Constitution of Colombia Article 13	'All persons are born free and equal before the law, shall enjoy equal protection and treatment by the authorities and shall enjoy the same rights, freedoms and opportunities without any discrimination on grounds of sex, race, national or family origin, language, religion, political or philosophical opinion.'	Colombian State	1991
Political Constitution of Colombia Article 40	It calls for the 'adequate and effective participation of women in the decision-making levels of public administration'.	Colombian State	1991
Political Constitution of Colombia Article 43	It states that women and men have equal rights and opportunities. Women shall not be subjected to discrimination of any kind. During pregnancy and after childbirth women shall enjoy special assistance and protection from the State and shall receive from the State a food allowance if she is then unemployed or destitute. The State shall give special support to women heads of household.	Colombian State	1991
Political Constitution of Colombia Article 53	It demands that in work regulations there should be 'special protection for women, maternity and under-age workers'.	Colombian State	1991
Statutory Law No.158	It determines the creation of mechanisms to comply with the principle of equality stipulated in Articles 13, 40 and 43 of the Colombian Constitution	Congress of the Republic	1998
Law 581(Quota Law)	It regulates women's participation at decision-making levels of public power, with a minimum of 30% at each level	Congress of the Republic	2000
Law 731	It aims to 'improve the quality of life of rural women, prioritising low-income women, and to enshrine specific measures aimed at accelerating equity between rural women and men'.	Congress of the Republic	2002
Law 823	It establishes the institutional framework and guides government policies and actions to ensure equity and equal opportunities for women in the public and private spheres.	Congress of the Republic	2003
National Agreement for Equity between Women and Men	It constitutes the commitment of the National Government and the Legislative and Judicial Branches, to materialise the empowerment of women through their participation, on equal terms with men, in all spheres of society, and the elimination of all forms of discrimination against them to achieve human development with quality and equity.	Presidency of the Republic	2003

# ALign

Instrument	Description	Issued by	Year
Decree 519	Article 5 creates the Presidential Advisory Office for Women's Equity and establishes its functions	Presidency of the Republic	2003
Law 1257	It establishes rulings for awareness-raising, prevention and punishment of forms of violence and discrimination against women. It includes protective measures for victims and creates a committee to monitor the implementation of the law.	Congress of the Republic	2008
Decree 1930	It adopts the first National Public Policy on Gender Equity, which is composed of the set of policies, guidelines, processes, indicative plans, institutions, instances and the Comprehensive Plan to guarantee a life free of violence. It creates an intersectoral commission for its implementation.	Presidency of the Republic	2013
National Development Plan. 2018- 2022. 'Pact for Colombia, Pact for Equity'	As part of the NDP, its 'Pact for Women's Equity' contains specific measures to achieve equity and autonomy for women and defines strategic actions in the different areas.	Congress of the Republic, the National Government and the National Planning Department	2018
Law 2114	It aims to extend paternity leave and to create shared parental leave and flexible part-time parental leave	Congress of the Republic	2021
Law 2129	It allow parents to determine the order of child´s surnames, by agreement between the father and the mother	Congress of the Republic	2021
Conpes 4080	It establishes a new Public Policy on Gender Equity for Women. It sets out a route for action to generate the conditions that will allow the country to advance towards gender equality and the guarantee of women's economic, social, cultural, participation and health rights, as well as the possibility of living a life free of gender violence, with a horizon until 2030.	National Planning Department	2022
National Development Plan. 2022-2026 'Colombia is a world power of life'	<ul> <li>It includes six areas of change with a view to guarantee women's rights and to overcome gender barriers and gaps:</li> <li>1. Women as drivers of sustainable economic development and protectors of life and the environment.</li> <li>2. Women at the centre of the politics of life and peace.</li> <li>3. Guaranteeing women's full health rights.</li> <li>4. For a life free of violence against women.</li> <li>5. A society free of stereotypes and with gender governance.</li> <li>6. Towards a feminist foreign policy with national leadership on gender issues.</li> </ul>	Congress of the Republic, the National Government and the National Planning Department	2022
Law 2297	It establishes effective measures and for the benefit of persons with disabilities and their carers.	Congress of the republic	2023

# **ALIGN** Advancing Learning and Innovation on Gender Norms

### About ALIGN

ALIGN is a digital platform and programme of work that supports a global community of researchers, practitioners and activists, all committed to gender justice and equality. It provides new research, insights from practice, and grants for initiatives that increase our understanding of – and work to change – discriminatory gender norms.

#### About this report

This Colombia country report is part of ALIGN's 'Men in politics as agents of gender equitable change: gender norms and political masculinities' series.

#### **ALIGN Programme**

ODI 203 Blackfriars Road London SE18NJ United Kingdom Email: <u>align@odi.org.uk</u> Web: <u>www.alignplatform.org</u>

#### Disclaimer

This document is an output of Advancing Learning and Innovation on Gender Norms (ALIGN). The views expressed and information contained within are not necessarily those of, or endorsed by, ODI or our partners and donors and they accept no responsibility for such views or information or for any reliance placed on them.

### Citation

Serrano Amaya, J. F. and García Suárez, C. I. (2024) Male politicians and gender politics in Colombia: a long path to walk. ALIGN report. London: ODI/ALIGN.

### Copyright

© ALIGN 2024. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution – NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International Licence (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0).

### **Cover photo**

Peaceful protest march in Bogotá, Colombia, against law reforms of the new Colombian government, September 2022. © Anamaria Mejia | Shutterstock ID: 2207158545.

ALIGN is led by ODI and currently supported by a range of international donors including the Government of Canada (through Global Affairs Canada).



